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OUR
CREDO

QUR PURPOSE To build a great company dedicated to our patients. QUR PARAMETERS We focus
our efforts.exclusively on what we are passionate about. What we can become best at. What drives
our economic sustainability. OUR PRINCIPLES We are, above all, the agents of our patients. We aim
to exceed. their expectations every time so that we earn their trust and loyalty. We strive to COntmuousiy
improve the quality and the value of the care we give our patients. We empower our people to do
their best. Our people are our greatest asset. We should select them attentively and invest in them
passionately. As everyone matters, everyone who contributes should be a partner in all that we do.
in return, we expect them to give their patients all that they can. We are unrelenting in the pursuit
of excellence. We embrace innovation and-learn from our mistakes. We measure everything we do
and we share the data with all to judge. Pursuing our ambition to be the best healthcare provider is

a never-ending process. ‘Good enough’ never is.
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CIRCLEBATH CIRCLEREADING

COMING THROUGH E-REFERR

NHS PATIENTS WHO ACTIVEL
CHOSE TO BE TREATED AT CIRC

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

PATIEN

EXPE

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

98~

OF PATIENTS

WOULD

- RECOMMEND

% “CIRCLE TO FRIENDS AND FAMILY

Source Results of Friends and Fanmly Test,
g completed by Cucle hospital patients.

100«

OF PATIENT AND
VISITOR MEALS ARE
COOKED FROM

SCRATCH

---------------------------------------------

“EXCELLENT SERVI
FROM START TO FIN

The atmosphere at Circle 15 relaxing, clean and
the pre-op check until the day of the surgery,
was made simple and clear Afl the staff were 5
and kind, it was the best choice we made cormn

GASTROINTESTINAL AND LIVER PATIENT
CIRCLENOTTINGHAM

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Group revenue

+159%

with lolal reverue incieased o £127 8 mitlion
{2014 £111 million)

Group EBITDA’ losses
for the year more than
halved to

£4.9m

(2014 E30 4 milbon)

Patient volumes

8894

to 18 433 day cases (2094 45773) and
292,472 outpaticnts {2014 269 316)

Won the LaingBuisson

Award for 'Private Hospital

Group of the Year’

LaingBuisson

HIGHLIGHTS \

All business segments now EBITDA positive, excluding
Head Office

Clinical performance consistently high, with patient
recommendation rate above 98% across the Group,
above NHS and private averages

100% of CircleBedfardshire MSK patients triaged within
24 hours

Nottingham one of few centres in the country to gam
‘outstanding’ rating for surgery service from the Care
Quality Commission ('CQC’)

Planning permussion secured for CircleBirmingham,
Circle’s fourth new-build hospital

~ Artist’s impression of completed CircleBirmingham hospital

Earnings before interest, tax depreciation and amortisation excluding exceptional items
and [FRS 2 share-based payment charge for share options granted {'Project Reset items’)
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CHAIRMAN'S

LETTER

In 2015, Circle continued to grow its
existing operations Pleasingly, Bath,
Nottingham and Bedfordshire MSK
are now contnbuting positive EBITDA,
and the Group's growth performance
in revenues and patient volumes
outperformed the sector i general -
though the Group has yet to reach a
scale that fully covers central costs
Further discussion of operational and
financial performance can be read in
the Chief Executive Officer’s teport

Chinical perforrnance remans consistentty
high Notable outcomes included the
exceptional patient satisfaction levels
across the Group and the ‘outstanding’
CQC rating achieved for surgery at
CircleNottingham

During the year, the Board and management
conducted an extensive review of Lthe
business The review included an analysis
of the competitive environment, options
for inorganic growth, and exarmning
opportunities to utihse our operationat
expertise, both in the UK and abroad

inthe UK, the pressures {acing healthcare
are expected to grow We anticipate
increasing patient demand, tighter
public finances, radical changes in
technology, and a shift towards

more integrated healthcare

The review concluded that in this
environment, Circle’s core principles of
arelentless patient focus, outstanding
hospitality and design, persistent
innovation, and clinical leadership,
along with increasing expertise in
musculoskeletal ('MSK') care, were
developing a solid platform for
further growth

To ensure adequate scale i this respect,
we expect Lo commence construction
work on our fourth new-build hospitat

in Birmingham dunng 2016 To further
grow and optimise utibisation of our
facilities, we are exarmining a partnership
opportumty with a major healthcare group
to extend our current acute offenng into
post-acute care, at our existing and new-
build operations

The emphasis in our business model on a
wide clinician partnership, commissiontng
and operating expertse, and high patient
satisfaction, has attracted attention

from overseas interests We are currently
exarmining opportunities for Circle to
engage with highly credible financial and
operational partners in major economies,
where our investment would be primanty
in the form of our inteliectual property

In summary, we believe Circle - after
a penod of maturation — 15 currently
well poised to reatise its potential
through a sustainable business model,
while generating consistent returns
for our shareholders

In closing, | must pay tribute to our
excellent executive team and their
colleagues throughout the orgarisation
for a year of hard work, strong operational
performance, and far therr full commitment
to our strategic directron and identification
of new opportunities Likewsse, | am hugely
indebted to my Board colleagues for their
commitment, wise counsel and full
engagerneant 1 our mission

Michael Kirkwood CMG
Charrman
29 March 2016

Y .Ar:w-gm

Q In summary, we
believe Circle — after

a period of maturation -

Is currently well poised to
realise i1ts potential through
a sustainable business model,

while generating consistent
returns for our shareholders
MICHAEL KIRKWOQD CHAIRMAN
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PLANNING PERMISSION GRANTED FOR

CIRCLEBIRMINGl\-IAM

"AS ATYPICAL MAN AND NOT
OVERENTHUSIASTIC ABOUT

VISITING MEDICAL FACILITIES,

i came away from my visit yesterday to the
treatment centre with a sense of renewed
7 confidence with the facilities
* == |can choose as a NHS patient...
W the centre is spotlessly clean and
with a calming ambience to make

my visit as stress-free as possible,
Treatment as it should be”

ORTHOPAEDIC PATIENT
CIRCLENOTTINGHAM

---------------------------------------------------------

1 WOULD HAVE
NO HESITATION IN
RECOMMENDING THIS
HOSPITALTO ANYONE;

it was so nice to see such a friendly
and clean environment.

ORTHOPAEDIC PATIENT
CIRCLEREADING

---------------------------------------------- TR EE R X i)

Y T

LN
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Delayed transfers
of care ('DTOC)

+15%

to 16 million bed days

Patients awauing lurther non acute NHS care s the
single larpest reasan for delayed days m 20§4/15 [201%
of all delayed days) Of all the reasons for DTOC at
least four arcas could be sigmificantly )mproved by the
wnplementabion of post acuie care services {see below)

900 -
-0 ] o

B0

7O~

CELAYED DAYS

T4Q

700 Y

2014 2015

== Pauents awaiting non-acutc NHS care
completion of assessment care package
nawn home or community equipment
and adaplations

Source NHS Fngland, Delayed Transfers
of Care Annu sl Report 2013/14 and 2014415

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER'S REPORT

Operating overview

In 2015, we made encouraging progress in
our core business, and developed significant
opportunities for further growth

Circle’s management model has always
emphasised a number of key principles
We bebieve that we offer better, more
efficient care by focusing, above all else,
on patients We believe that excellent
hospitality and design are essential to
an excellent patient experience We
believe in chirucal leadership, and constant
snnovation And finalty, we have built up
a particular expertise in MSK care, beyond
the orthopaedic surgery many private
hospital groups offer

In 2015, we consolidated this operational
expertise and, as a result, we have delivered
solid financial resuits

Operating outlook

Our core strengths have enabled the Group
to deliver excellent growth and improved
results in 2015, both in our hospitals and
in delivering integrated care

Qur aim 15 to use the skills we have
developed in these operations to further
grow our core business, and to add logical
extensions to our current services

Continued organic growth

at hospital sites

CircleBath wall continue to secure its status
as a clinical centre of excellence, pursuing
tugher acuity work that delivers strong
margins to the Group The hospital will
continue to work on efficiency projects
throughout 2016 to further improve
financial performance

CircleReading will see a continued strong
rate of growth n both pattent volumes and
revenue, as we continue to attract patients
from an expanding catchment area We
expect the facility will further benefit from
Circle’s planned rehabilitation service,
which 15 outlined below

We have recently launched a new range
of all-inclusive self-pay packages, with the
aim of growing this payor group Current
self-pay patients account for 10% of the
patient mix acrass the two hub hospitals
fer total patient procedures, and we,
therefore, see an opportunity to grow this
figure These packages offer excellent value
and promote the outstanding hospitality
and quality care that are Circle's hallmarks

CircleNottingham will continue with

Its integration into the local healthcare
economy throughout 2076 It is expected
that the hospital can leverage our core
expertise to develop further opportunities
in orthopaedic work, and it will drive
efficiencies in the facility to accommodate
continued volume growth

Prowvisional contracts are in place for
construction on CircleBirmingham The
concept has adapted to be a multi-use
facility, to allow for expansion with an
ntegrated rehabilitation centre Bulding
works will commence i the third quarter
of 2016

Further MSK contracts

Our Bedfordshire MSK contract has seen
the Group transfer our strength of MSK
knowledge and innovation from solely
acute care to primary, community and
secondary care This represents unique
operational knowledge and insight into
the benefits and challenges of integrating
care, from referral to tniage, through to
treatment completion

The Group 15 actively working on secunng
additional MSK services, and we expect
further opportunities in integrated MSK
work to come to market in the next 12
months Circle's expenence puts us in

a prime position to secure further work,
and we expect to do so We will assess
opportumities individually to ensure
they are viabte and that they genumnely
offer shared benefits for both the NHS
comnussicner and the provider
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Improving post-acute care in the UK
Our experience In acute care has led to the
insight that UK patients would benefit from
improved rehabilitation services

There are some rehabilitabon centres in
the UK, but they tend to focus on drug,
alcohol or mental health, and tend to

be small centres disconnected from
matnstream acute hospitals Hospitals

do provide some rehabilitation services
for serious neurological conditions, but
the UK could sigrificantly improve its
record on patients who fail to return

to health after surgery The NHS also
faces recurrent problems of medically
healthy patients in acute hospitals awaiting
discharge, who cannot access social, step-
down or reablement care With an ageing
population, these problems will only grow

This combination of demographic trends,
gaps in current provision, and a growing
crisis In post-acute patients suggest there
15 sigmificant potential demand for better
rehabilitation services

Circle expects to enter Into a partnership
with a major European provider of medical
rehabilitation, with an extensive track

£ o = rmah B i s

" CIRCLE'S CURRENT PATHWAY

+ Rehabilitation rele in the UK s
currently underserved and not
delivered to a high standard
Circle plans to extend care from
acute to post-acute, to create a
holistic patient journey

record in providing public and private
healthcare services

This will complement Circle’s expenience

in hospital care and orthopaedic work, and
offer one of the UK's only dedicated service
to meet demand for intensive, medicatly-
drwen rehabilitation

Circle expects to open rehabilitation facilities
in Reading, Bath and Birmingham We are
finalising the terms of the partnership, and
expect to confirm further detatls in the
coming weeks

Bringing next generatron proton
beam therapy to Harley Street
Circle’s desire to innovate alsc sees us
partnering with Advanced Oncotherapy
(‘AvO’), who are developing a next-
generation proton beam therapy system,
incorporating technology hicensed from
CERN This reduces the size and cost of
the proten beam machine considerably,
enabling AVO tonstall a facility in
Harley Street

AVO's technology development remains on
track, and we are supporting AVQ's efforts
to obtain finance for its technology

EXTENDED PATHWAY

- Outcomes-based rehabilitation based
on the northern European madel 1s
complementary to Circle’s hospital
model to support the patient journey
for orthopaedic and neurclogical
patients

Qutpatient
rehabilitation

Using Circle's operational
knowledge abroad

Circle has demonstrated its operational
expertise and, as mentioned in our 2014
results, we continue to explore opportunities
in China to buitd on our UK platform We
expect to provide a subsequent update on
these international opportunities in the
coming months

2016 will be another important year

for us Our track record of growth, our
commitment to excellent patient care
and strategy to use our existing expertise
to unlock further partnerships and growth,
provides Circle with a clear path to
sustained profitability

Together with a dedicated and talented
team, we are excited about the opportunities
that the next 12 months will bring

Steve Melton
Chief Executive Officer
29 March 2016

R R

« Commuruty-
based

rehabilitation !

“1  Long-term
care

B Cucle pathway

Nat widely available in the UK
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CircleBath
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is derived from patlelﬁﬁndlvtdully s

choosing CircleBath, as opposed toa
trust transferring waiting hist work to

the hospital The hospital continues to
capture orthopaedic market share, which
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Revenue growth

+ 1 2%

Patient volumes

+3%

Patient recommendation rate

99+

¢) Foster + Partners
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Revenue growth

+9%

Patient volumes
+1 6%

Patient recommendation rate

\

CAF " "

El’zgleRé'adarig, our newest hosprtal, We were piea:ﬁ‘ts'see n.8% [::o’::i~ a2
secured £22 9 milhon revenue inits ’ improvement m’é.'rgoss margin 1| his 12 . I
third full year of operations p primanly due to a numberof efficiency3

. measures, such as standardising

_faent volumes increased 16% ' consumable and prosthesis compliance

In particular, the hospital saw a towards industry standards - which m
significant uplift in the number of . tum, we attnibuted to a modet of clinicat
day case procedures, as It expanded engagement Agency staffing costs also

the range of NHS services offered reduced from £11 million in 2014 to
Like CircleBath, CircleReading attracts £0 4 milbion n 2075

a large number of patients who

choose the hospital roughly 80% of Patient and staff satisfaction both
CircleReading’s NHS patients come ,» ' remain extremely high a1,99 6%
through the NHS e-Referral system, apgl 79% respectively 7
formerly known as Choose and Book




FREY T yn A
As mentioned in ouwntenm results, and patlents to be:t‘reated by us To
CircleMNottingham received a rating greater patient choice, we aré offenrlg
of ‘outstanding’ from the CQC for its operations on weekday evemngs,.a“nd
core service of surgery it 1s only one of « allday on—Saturdays*? - d
a handful of facilities in the country to ~ %a W,
recewve this rating This was one hlghllght o EB'IDA""CF“SE‘}PY €05 m'_',ﬁ{; Ao
I 3 year of consistently strong chimical £3'mllion, supported by effitignciesy,
performance, also reflected in a ;ong

¢ [+
in the treatment centre W also Ek
patient recommendation rate

turther opportunltlﬁto support ther
locahhealﬂlcare economy, and consider

The hospital continues to |nEreasents! i ant

having no guaranteed volumes ggg_m, working closely w;th the NHS to g,
this s a testament to the pa!t%xe,_nt cate - offer excellent:care :
offered and the active ChOICE o;E‘S 2

¥

! theytreatrg,ent Zentre to beaprime 4%
patient volumes, despite |"t§“'contra‘%,‘ “‘exanlple of the'independent sector - Fe

Revenue growth

+11%

Patient volumes

+1%

Patient recommendation rate
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Patients offered choice of
treatment provider verbally
by a patient advisor

98

Patient recommendation rate

97 %
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.5M

WORKING

DAYS
LOST

RELATED TO MSK
DISORDERS IN 2015

Source Work related Musculaskelgtal
Disorder {WRMSDs) Statistics
Great Britain, 2015 report
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CIRCLEBATH CAPTURES

54% éHIPANDKNEE

: JOINT REPLACEMENT
OF THE LOCAL ! PROCEDURES COMPLETED

ORTHOPAEDIC : AT CIRCLEBATH IN 2015 (2014 793)

MARKET

UP FROM 44% IN 2014

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

MUSCULOSKELETAL

EXPERTISE

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

“TOP OF THEIR CLASS

IN CARE AND FACILITIES,

WITH EFFICIENT AND 100-.

FRI EN D LY STAFFo of referrals coming
‘b ar raged it

I have just had a hup replaced and would not hesitate -
24 HOURS 4

recommending Circle From the imitial consultation, through
to the operation and discharge, the staff were fantastic,
. &spectally my surgeon who has done a great job

HANKS!”

EHDPAEDIC PATIENT CIRCLEREADING

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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a BEFORE

PRE-CIRCLE MSK PATIENT PATHWAY
Time to night treatment 20-35 weeks
Patient experience Poor

i
i

Arrerrararererarraanerne

» Non-integrated patient pathway with no standardised

1
{ ' assessiment of patients to ensure correct clinical pathway |
| delivered first time b
! - No mndependent assessment of patients leading to Ga
| unnecessary SUrgertes [‘:L .
- High cost setungs for patients treated in a hospital setting "

.
g g v
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’ s Clinical triage in CircleBedfordshire
. Integrated MSK Service
Referred to community
- '
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Waiting time:

' 3 weeks’

T— -
[ Lg T

.
R e LIS

Waiting time:
1-4 weeks’

Consultation - pain
injaction administered

i e - . . .

Total waiting time: -
1-7 weeks

Patient experience:

Excellent
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CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER’S REPORT

Financial review

2015 has been a year of progress We achieved revenue growth across all sites, we improved

gross profit marging, and we further reduced operating overheads, all of which contnbuted
to a 42% reduction in total losses These results were achieved through increasing pattent

volumes and cost savings across many areas of our business

Last year, for the first time, we reported a positive EBITDAR' tn 2015, we improved on this
milestone with a positive EBITDAR of almost four times higher at £5 S million, and a positive
EBITDA of £18 million, excluding our Head Office recharges

As anticipated in the 2014 Annual Report, growth in revenue and improvement in operational
efficiency continued at every hospital site in 2015 NHS patient volumes continue to grow
as a result of patient choice and our support of surrounding NHS trusts A key milestone
was achieved in 2015 with CircleBath realising a full-year positive EBITDA of £0 3 million,
a turnaround from EBITDA loss of £0 8 millien in the prior year CircleNottingham and
CircleReading continue to experience encouraging organic growth Compared to prior
year, CircleNottingham's EBITDA increased by 20% to £3 milbion, while CircteReading’s
EBITDA loss reduced by 38% to £2 8 mullion

The Group generated an operating loss before exceptional and Project Reset items? of
£8 millien, an improvement of 40% on 2014 We are pleased with the financial progress
made i 2015, while maintaining patient satisfaction levels at 99% This positive growth
provides solid grounding for 2016 and beyond, as we seek to maximise the scale of our
provisions to cater to the full patient experience

Patient procedures

Year to Year Lo

31 December 31 Decenber

2015 2014
Number Number Change
Day case and inpatients 48,433 45173 7%
Qutpatients 292,472 269,316 S%
Total procedures 340,905 314,489 8%

Patient volumes continue to grow at a steady rate, particularly NHS volumes, as more
patients are actively selecting Circle as their healthcare prowider of choice At CircleReading
and CircteBath, NHS e-Referral orthopaedic appointments booked have nisen on average
40% and 11% respectively, year-on-year This reflects our growing orthopaedic market share

Total day case and inpatient volumes increased by 7% on prior year Particularly
encouraging growth mn inpatients was seen at CrrcleNotungham, where the number of
inpatients increased by more than threefold on prior year In addition, CircleNottingham
has achieved year-on-year growth of 6%, which s very pleasing for a mature asset

Fee pressures were evident across the market 1n 2015, and we expect these to continue
After consecutive years of decreasing NHS taniffs, we take note of Monitor's proposal for
the 2016/17 financial year?

Closing cash balance
as at year-end

£15M

All business segments
are now reporting positive
EBITDA of

£1.8m

Excluding Head Office

Total day case and inpatient
volumes increased by

+1%
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Patient volumes
continue to grow at a
steady rate, particularly NHS

volumes, as

more patients

are actively selecting Circle
as their healthcare provider

of choice

PAOLO PIERE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

CircleBath saw a total volurme growth of 3% to 49,052 Average inpatient and day
case revenue increased tn both NHS and private medicat insurance (‘'PMI’) segments,
due to changes in procedure mix, with a higher proportion of orthopaedic procedures
than prior year Growth in patient volumes at CircleReading was largely in specialties
that are predominantly day case procedures

While we have seen strong growth 1n our NHS day case and inpatient procedure volumes
across all three hospital sites, overall PMI valumes have remamed flat with self-pay volumes
falling slightly on prior year

We have also seen a positive increase in outpatient volumes, increasing by 9% to 292,472
year-on-year, with a corresponding 10% growth in autpatient revenues

Overall, we are encouraged by the continuing steady growth at all our hosprtal sites All
assets, in particutar CircleReading, have potential for increased vtilisation, so as we move
into 2016, we expect to see continued growth

Group results

2015 continues the trend of positive growth from 2014 EBITDA loss before exceptional
items reduced by more than half as the Group continues to grow in its core operations,
while achieving operating efficiencies Cash balance as at end of Decermnber was £15 mithon
with no restricted cash reserves

Year 10 Year to
31 December 31 December
2015 2014 Difference Difference
£'000 £ 000 £'000 %
Group revenue 127,790 110,983 16,807 15%
EBITDAR before
exceptional items and
Project Reset charge 5,530 1152 4,378 380%

EBITDA before

exceptional items and

Project Reset charge {4,915) (10,427} 5,512 (53%)
Total operating loss

before exceptional items

and Project Reset items (7,.967) (13,329) 5,362 (40%)
Exceptional items {389) (5,341) 4952 (93%)
Loss and total

comprehensive loss

for the financial year {11,656) (20,155) 8,499 {42%)
Net assets 25,411 34,374 (8,963) (26%)

Like-for-like* reverue increase at the current hospital sites was 11%, reflecting the strength
of our core business At CircteBath and CircleReading, 85% and 80% respectively of our
revenues came from panients who chose these facilities through the NHS e-Referral system
While reassured by our progress on revenues, we acknowledge that gross margin growth
has been slower to materialise than anticipated This 1s partly due te challenges around
agency costs and achieving sufficient scale, as addressed in the Chairman and CEQ'’s reports
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| tke-for-like gross margin is at 34% for
the year ended 2015, compared to 33% in
2014 After removing the one-off impact
of benefits receved in 2014 in relation to
the old Nottingham contract, like-for-like
margins improved by 3% in the period

Group EBITDAR continues ta improve
at an encouraging rate, nsing by nearly
four times the EBITDAR of the prior year
EBITDA loss has also more than halved
The improvement in performance 1s
driven by EBITDA progress across all
hospital sites and facilities

The Bedfordshire MSK service operated for
a full financal year in 2015, and completed
its first year of operationin April 2015 The
operational challenges that we faced in
2014 have been largely resolved, and we
can now cancentrate on iImplementing our
planned inttiatives to improve care and
reduce surgeries in a growing populatton

We ae pleased that this success led

to EBITDA of £1 3 million In a capped
budget model where overall activity
was up 17% since calendar year 2013,
this represents benefits genuinely shared
between the independent provider and
the NHS commissioner We also continue
to work closely with the CCG to engage
Bedford GPs to utibse the referral process
managed by Circle

The Company 1ssued nitial allecations of
options under 1ts Management Incentive
Plan {'"MIP") and Partnership Incentive Plan
{'PIP’) share schemes during 2015 The total
share option charge recognised in 2015
amounted to £2 5 million

Together with 11 5 million 2016 convertible
shares that witl automatically convert into
ordinary shares of the Company 1n june
2016, up to 20 mullion options may vest
and become eligible to exercise in 2016
(approximately 13 million of which are
subject to performance conditions that

may or may not be satisfied) Both the
2016 convertible shares and the ordinary
shares into which these options will be
exercised are currently 1ssued and held
by the Circle Partnership Benefit Trust
(the *CPBT'), on behalf of scheme
beneficianes, and are non-dilutive

With the aid of future plans to maximise
scale, and also current strategies to reduce
staffing costs, while srmultaneously
maintaining our high-quality climical
care, we are confident that we have the
resources to achieve sustainable growth

Exceptional items
During 2015, net exceptional costs of
£0 4 million were recognised in relation to

+ agan due to lower than expected
costs in 2014 for advisory fees to assist
the Group's consideration of potential
acquisitions, and

+ the IFRS 2 share-based charge on the
share optrons awarded to the Group's
Chief Financial Officer

Cash flow

Net cash outflow from operating
activities amounted to £4 6 milion (2014
£8 4 mullion), showing an iImprovement
on prior year as a result of improved
operational performance

At 31 December 2015, the only borrowings
relate to finance leases of clinical equipment
Our cash flow forecasts have been prepared,
based on the expected cash flows from the
Croup’s existing operating businesses, and
the commitments associated with new
projects, as discussed in the Chairman’s
and Chief Executive Officer’s reports
Should any adverse vanances to expected
cash flows materialise, a number of actions
could be taken to mitigate the negative
impact Actions include reducing Head
Office costs, reducing the scale or timing

of Investment i new projects, or seeking
further funding opportunities There s

also potential to generate additional capital
through the sale of land in Manchester
We continue to evaluate our growth options
to maintain a balance between capital
requirements and potential returns

In early 2016, we marketed the sale of
our land In Manchester We expect to
recerve offers before we report again
at the half year

/Z/%,

Paolo Pien
Chief Financial Officer
29 March 2016

1 Earmings before interest tax depreciation
amortisation and rent excluding exceptionat anc
Project Resct stemns (Note Project Reset items.
relate to the IFRS 2 share-based payment charge
for share options pranted to Circle employees and
climeal partners})

2 Project Reset items relate to the IFRS 2 share-
based payment charge for share options granted
1o Circle employeas and chinical partners

3 wwwengland nhs uk/resources/pay syst/tanlf-
consullation-notice/

4 Like=for-Lke revenue growth refers Lo revenue
growth at CircleNottingham CircleBath and
CircleReading







-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(44 THE VALUE THAT WE PLACE ON
OUR CLINICIANS HAS ALWAYS SET US
APART FROM OTHERS IN OUR SECTOR.

In creating Circle, we reabised that when you trust your staff to do well, when you
give them the support and freedom to truly thrive in their role, they will be prepared
to go that much further for patients An empowered workforce 1s at the very heart ,,
of Circle’s business In short, cur staff are the reason we are successful
MASSOUD FOULADI CHIEF MEDICAL OFFICER

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

CLINICAL

ENGAGEMENT

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

78%0F &

JOINT REPLACEMENTS
USED STANDARDISED ‘
PROSTHESIS

-----------------------------------------------------------

OF STAFF
- mHapToHAVEAN [ 8 0% woulo
'OPERATIONANDWAS | pECOMMEND
A BIT APPREHENSIVE. |

: : CIRCLE TO FRIENDS AND FAMILY
shouldn’t have been, every member of staff was very : AS A PLACE TO WORK
ofessional and efficient The day care was extremely :

good and | can prarse it to the highest order”
VASCULAR PATIENT CIRCLEBATH
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MICHAEL KIRKWOOD CMG

Charman (a}, {b), {c}’
Michael Kirkwood 1s an Economics and
Industrial Engineening graduate of Stanford
University and a Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Bankers He joined the Board
of Circle Holdings plc as Chairman in June
2011 He s additionally Sentor Adwisor
(formerly Chatrman) of Ondra Partners LLP,
a non-executive director of AngloGold
Ashanti Limited, and an Ementus Director
{formerly Chairman) of British American
Business Inc

Michael jomed Citigroup in 1977 from
where he retired at the end of 2008

Prior to Citigroup, he spent a number of
years in Asia with Bowater-Ralli Group,
having started his career at HSBC He
was previously a non-executive director
of UK Financial Investrments Ltd (UKFI},
Eros International plc, Kidde plc, and Deputy
Chairman of PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP's Advisory Board He 1s a member

of the Adwisory Board of the Association
of Corporate Treasurers and a patron

of poverty housing charity, Habitat for
Humarnity Dunng his City career, he served
as Deputy Chairman of the British Bankers
Association, President of the Chartered
Institute of Bankers, Chairman of the
Association of Foreign Banks, and as a
member of the CBI's Financial Services
Council

A Freeman and former HM Lieutenant for
the City of London in 2004, Michael was
appointed a Companion of the Order of
St Michael and St George (CMC) in HM
The Queen’s 2003 Birthday Honours

FE STEVE MELTON

SR Chuef Executive Officer

Steve Melton was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer in December 2012, after
previously holding the roles of Head of
Mobilisation and Chief Operating Officer
since joimng Circle in 2008 Steve has

over 30 years of expenience leading
transformational change and operations in
the retail, consumer goods and healthcare
sectors Pnor to Circle, he was the Supply
Chain Director at Argos, where he also
led a number of group-wide business
excellence programmes

Previously, he was Supply Chan Director
at Scottish Courage, and General Manager,
Non-Food Supply Chain at Asda He began
his career on Unilever’s Management
Trainge Programme and, subsequently,
held a number of roles at Unilever, working
internaticnally across the personal products
business Steve holds an MA (First Class) in
Chemical Engineering from the University
of Cambnidge

u PAQLO PIERI

Chief Financial Offtcer
Paolo Pieri joined Circle after spending
over five years at lastminute com He
spent the majority of this time as the
UK Finance Director and, subsequently,
took on a number of operational roles,
including the Managing Director of
some European divisions

Prior to this, Paolo spent seven years n
the Virgin orgamsation, principally within
the retail and cinema operations, where
he spent three years as Finance Director
of the Virgin Megastore business

Paclo has a Bachelor of Accountancy
from Glasgow University, and 1s a member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
for Scotland

DR MASSOUD FOULADI

Chief Medical Cfficer
Dr Massoud Fouladi 1s a co-founder of
Circle and Group Medical Director He also
serves as the initial director representative
of the CPBT, the Group’s largest single
shareholder

Massoud graduated from Bristol
Medical School 1n 1990, and completed
his ophthalmelogy traiming at Birmingham
and Midland Eye Centre in 1999 He was
also awarded a Masters in Health Services
Management by Birmingham Health
Services Management Centre in 1998

In 2001, Massoud founded the Ophthalmic
Clinical Leads Forum at the King's Fund
He was Chairman of the Association of
Ophthalmologists UK from 2003 to
2007 He remains an active consultant
speciabising in ophthalmic surgery

LORRAINE BALDRY OBE

Senior Non-Executive Director

(a). (b)" (¢}
Lorraine Baldry 1s Charrman of London
and Continental Raillways Limited,
Schroders Real Estate Investment Trust,
Inventa Partners Limited and Tri-Air
Developments Limited She 1s also a Board
member of Thames Water Utilities Ltd
She was previcusly Sentor Independent
Non-Executive Director of DTZ Holdings
plc, and Chairman of the London Thames
Gateway Development Corporation

Prior to that, Lorraine was Chref Executive
of Chesterton Internaticnal ple, a serior
adwisor at Morgan Stanley, investment
banking dwiston, and Managing Director
and a member of the Executive Committee
of Regus Lorraine joined Regus from
Prudential Corporation, where she held

a number of posts, including Managing
Director of Prudential Corporate Pensions,
Chief Operating Officer of Prudential
Portfolio Managers (now M&GC}, and
Managing Director of its property
investment division

She was awarded OBE in the Queen's
jubilee Honours, and 1s an Honorary
Member of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors and a past president
of the British Property Federation
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{a)
)
(9

Mermber of Audit and Risk Commuttee
Member of Renuneration Commutiee
Member of Nomination Committee
Denotes Chair of respective commutlee
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LORD HUTTON OF FURNESS

Non-Executive Birector (b), ()
Lord Hutton served as a member of the
British House of Commons from 1992 to
2010 During fus time in government, he
held several prominent Cabinet positions,
including Secretary of State for Defence,
Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform,
and Work and Pensions Lord Hutton was
alsa a minister in the UK Department
of Health from 1998 to 2005, where he
helped lead the modernisation of the
National Health Service Prior to public
service, Lord Hutton waorked as a seriar
law lecturer at Northumbria University,
and served as a legal adviser to the
Confederation eof British industry
Between 2010 and 2071, Lord Hutton
was the Chairman of the independent
Public Service Pensions Commission

He 1s currently Chairman of the Nuciear
Industry Association, a non-executive
director of Simus Minerals plc and Arthunian
Life Sciences Ltd Lord Hutton also helds
advisory positions at Bechtel Corporation,
PricewaterhouseCoopers and Lockheed
Martn Lord Hutton graduated from
Magdalen College, Oxford Uriversity,

1n 1978 with an MA and a Bachelor in
Civil Law

n JUSTIN JEWITT
Non-Executive Director (a)

Justin Jewtt has extensive commeraal
knowledge and practical experience in
the delivery and creation of public and
private health services He graduated from
Leicester University in 1975, joining Mobil
Oil Company Lirited as a graduate tranee,
where he occupied various roles for 12

years In 1986, he joined Thorn Em
plc in therr retail/rental division, mowving
through vanous semior management roles

In 1992, Justin became Managing Director
of two B E T plc companies, Laundrycraft
and Imtial Healtthcare (Textile) Ltd Justin
Joined Nestor Healthcare Group plc in
1994, where he worked for 10 years as
Chief Executive OfFficer of the Group,
bullding it into a FTSE 250 listed company
Justin also held several non-executive
director positions in bath private and
public healthcare companies Justin is
currently a visiting professor for the
Welsh Institute for Health and Sacial
Care, University of South Wales, a member
on the Quality Commuttee of an NHS CCG,
and a senior independent director of NHS
Shared Business Services Ltd

n ANDREW SHILSTON
Non-Executive Director (a} , (b), (¢}
Andrew Shilston graduated from the
University of Oxford in 1977 with an MA
in Engineening Sciences, and 1s a member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of England and Wales, and a Fellow of the
Association of Corporate Treasurers

Andrew Joined Rolls-Royce Group plc in
2002 and was appointed Group Finance
Director in 2003, where he remarned
until 2011 He was Finance Director at
Enterprise Ol Ltd from 1993 to 2002
Andrew was an independent non-executive
director of Cairn Energy ple between 2004
and 2008, and is currently Chairman

of Morgan Advanced Materials plc and
Independent Non-Executive and Sensor
Independent Director of BP plc
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DIRECTORS’

REPORT

The directors present their Annual Report and audited financial
statements for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015

The Group financial statements
consoldate the financial statements of
Circle Holdings ple {the 'Company') and
its subsidiary undertakings (‘subsidiaries’)
drawn up to 31 December 2015 Together,
these make up 'Circle’ or the *Group’

Principal activities

The Group 1s a prowder of healthcare
services In the UK, treating privately
msured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients
The Group’s business strategy 1s founded
on the belief that the best way to deliver
great patient care Is to empower the
doctors, nurses and all other staff who
work in our hospitals and treatment,

to put patients’ needs first

Business review

The information that fulfils the
requirements of the business review can
be found m the operating review on pages
10to 15 Information on environmental
matters, employees, community and socal
1ssues Is given in the Report on corporate
governance on pages 3210 35

Results and dividends

The total toss for the financial year amounted
to £11,656,000 (2014 £8,055,000) The
directors do not recommend the payment
of any dividends (2014 £nil)

Cash flow

The total cash balance at 31 Decemnber
201515 £14,998,000 (2014 £24,496,000)
Net cash used in operating activities
totalted £4,642,000 (2014 E8.361,000)

Share capital and control

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s
authonised share capital comprised
325,000,000 {2014 325,000,000)
ordinary shares of £0 02 each, 12,500,000
convertible shares {18 months) of £0 02
each, and 12,500,000 convertible shares
{18 months) of £0 02 each, of which

24779788 (2014 247.797188) (note 22)
were in 1ssue Shareholders are entitied

ta receive the Company's Annual Report
and financial statements, attend and speak
at general meetings, appoint proxies, and
exercise votmg nghts The Company’s shares
do not carry any special rights wath regard
to control of the Company

The appointment and replacerment of
directors 1s governed by the Company's
Articles of Assooation Any changes to the
Articles of Association must be approved
by the shareholders in accordance with
the legistation in force at the time The
directors have authonty to issue and
allot ordinary shares pursuant to Article 7
of the Company’s Articles of Association

Policy and practice on
payment of creditors

It1s the Group’s and Company's palicy
to abide by the payment terms agreed
with suppliers wherever it 1s satisfied
that the supplier has prowvided goods and
services in accordance with agreed terms
and conditions A number of sigmificant
purchases and commitments under
operating leases are paid by direct debit
At 31 December 2015, the Group had
20 equwvalent days (2014 30 days) of
purchases outstanding, and the Cormpany
had 16 equivalent days {2014 46 days)

At 31 December 2015, trade creditors in
the Group and Company were £6,840,000
and £59,000 respectively (2014 £6,666,000
and £133,000)

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a geing concern
basis, which assumes that the Group will
continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future The directors have
prepared cash flow forecasts for a period
of not less than 12 months from the date

of the signing of the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015

These forecasts have been prepared based
onthe expected cash flows from the Group'’s
existing operating businasses, as well as
the commitments associated with new
projects as discussed on pages 10to 11
Management believes that if any significant
vanances from the underlying assumpticns
of the forecasts were to matenalise, the
negative smpact to cash flows could be
mitigated by undertaking a number of
actions, including reducing Head Office
costs, reducing the scale or utming of
investment in new projects, or seeking
further funding opportunities The directors
are also seeking to generate further capital
through the sale of land in Manchester

The Company continues to evaluate
growth options available in the market,
and ensures a balance between capital
requirements and potential returns
Accordingly, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company
has adequate resources to continue In
operational existence for the foreseeable
future, and conclude that it & appropriate
for these accounts to be prepared on a
going concern basts

Events after the

balance sheet date

In January 2016, marketing for the sale of
the land held by Health Properttas (South
Manchester) Limited commenced It has
a carrying value of £5,000,000, and the
directors believe the sales proceeds will
support the carrying value

Directors

The directors who served duning the year
and up to the date of signing the financial
statements were as per the table on the
following page
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Steve Melton

Chief Executive Officer

Massoud Fouladi

Chief Medical Officer

Paolo Pien

Chief Financial Officer

Michael Kirkwood CMG

Non-Executive Chairman {independent)

Lorraine Baldry OBE

Senior Non-Executive Director {independent)

Andrew Shilston

Non-Executive Director (independent)

Lord Hutton of Furness

Non-Executive Director (independent)

Justin Jewitt

Non-Executive Director (independent)

Biographtes of the current directors are
detailed on pages 24 to 26, and directors’
beneficial interests in the Croup's share
capital and warrants are detailed on pages
36 to 39 of the Directors’ remuneration
report

Directors’ indemnity

In 1ts Articles of Association, the Company
has granted an indemnity to every present
and former officer in respect of proceedings
brought by third parties The Company has
procured Liabtiity insurance for all directors
and officers of the Company, and all Group
companies There are no outstanding claims
or provisions as at the balance sheet date

Donations

The Group made chantable denations
tolalling £845 (2014 £1,142) duning
the year to a number of charitable
orgamsations within the UK

No donation was made to any political
party registered in the UK under the
Political Parties, Elections and Referendums
Act 2000 by either the Company orits
subsidiaries

Principal risks

and uncertainties

Enterprise rnisk identification

and management

The Group has an effective system of risk
management in terms of identifying nsks
and monitoring actions to manage these

nsks Further details of the Group’s nisk
management process can be found in the
Report on corporate governance on pages
321035

Risk is an unavoidable element of dong
business The Group's nisk management
system aims to provide assurance to

the Board reparding the effectiveness

of the Group’s ability to manage risk

The system inciudes the controlled
prianitisation of i1ssues, review of key
operational metrics in relation to

clinical outcomes, patient expenence,
staff engagement and value for money
(together known as the Quality Quartet
['QQ'] review), mutigation, shaning of best
practice and effective ¢risis management

The following provides an overview of
the principal business nisk factors facing
the Group, along with a descnption, where
retevant, of the mitigating actions in place

Financial risks

The Croup’s operations expose it to a
vanety of financial nsks that include
working capital and funding nsk The
Group has imptemented a comprehensive
strategic planning and budgeting system
to monitor and limit the adverse effects
of the below nisks, the results of which are
presented to and approved by the Board
Management and the Board monitor
performance against budget and key
financial benchmarks through monthly

reporting routines, detailed business
reviews and vanance analysis

Working capital and funding risk
Working capital and funding nisk 1s the
nisk that the Group will encounter in the
event of difficulty in meeting obligations
assoc:ated with financial liabilsties, or will
be unable to obtain sufficrent funding to
pursue its growth plans and expansion
epporturities The Group aims ta mrtigate
this risk by robustly managing cash
generation across its operations through
detailed budgeting and tight cost contral,
as well as applying cash collection targets
throughout the Group Where the need
arises, signuficant cost savings are made
in the short term by reducing Head Office
costs The Group 15 also backed by leading
UK imstitutronal investors that have provided
finance through several financing rounds
over the past 11 years

Contract nisk

Contract risk exists where the Group 1s
unable to renew the NHS contracts at the
end of therr fixed tenure The Group aims
to minigate thss nsk by maintaining good
relationships with contracting parties and
actively pursuing contract renewals and
extensions ahead of time Duning 2013,
the Group won the retender to provide
renewed services at the Nottingham NHS
Treatment Centre for a further five years
until July 2018 The Group also operates a
frve-year integrated MSK service contract
m Bedfordshire, which ends in March 2019

Owing to the complexity of delivenng
NH5-funded services, there is inherent
contractual nisk ansing from the Group's
existing NHS contracts Default and
termmnation of these contracts could
occur as a result of chimcal or operational
fallures The Group continues to mitigate
these nisks by focusing on its business
model of delivering high-quality care

at the best value
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Clinical quality risk

As with all medical prowiders, cimical
quality nsk 1s a major consideration

The Group has an integrated corporate
governance structure which 15 chaired by
the Chief Medical Officer, who also sits on
the Board This structure includes senior
staff across the operational, cbnical and
central support teams Each hospital site
has its own local governance structure,
while a team of clinical care quality
spectalists Is dedicated to developing
up-to-date and consistent climcal and
operational policies across all sites

Local governance commiitees work to

a ngorous assurance framework, manage
day-to-day clintcal nsks through a nsk
register, provide appropnate training

to staif and consultants, and report

their findings to the Group's Integrated
Governance Committee ('IGC") This
cormmittee, in turn, provides written

risk assurance reports to the Boards

of the relevant Circle Group companies
and the Audit and Risk Committee

Price nsk

The Group generally seeks to price
contracts at levels that take account of
ncreasing pnces and, where appropnate,
establish contract terms that enable
revenues to be adjusted as a result of
any future increasing price levels As
the volume of patients is anticipated to
increase, the Group will be increasingly
subject to pricing changes from private
insurance companies and the NHS
pricing tanlf

The Bedfordshire MSK contract aperates
under a capped revenue budget The
underlymng pninciple assumes that the

service can be run more efficiently,
improving the patient expenence and
reducing operational costs Nevertheless,
the Group bears the nsk of nising operational
prices as the baseline revenue is fixed,
subject to local demographic or service
portfolio changes

Government policy

and regulatory risk

There are risks that political or policy
changes may mean that the number and
size of contracts awarded to the Group
are diminished, and that fewer services
provided by the Group are contracted
by the public sector

New regulations may be introduced
which could have an adverse effect on
the Group's operational and compliance
costs in addition, the Group relies on the
ability and willingness of government-
funded bodies, such as CCGs and NHS
trusts, to pay for the CGroup's services

Reputational risk

Reputational risk associated with poor
chinical outcomes or pabient satisfaction
1s mitigated by the focus on providing
high-quality medical care at the Group's
facilities, and constantly seeking to improve
chinical services through the activities

of the IGC and the QQ reviews

Steve Melton
Chief Executive Officer
29 March 2016




“One of our big successes in Bedfordshire has
:  been an outcomes app for physios. Previously,
WE ARE i outcomes were not being formally monitored,

DEL'G HTED To and physios were understandably resistant to

time-consuming form-fitling. So, we daployed
PARTNER WITH CIRCI.E, an app where they can type in outcomes on a
1 tablet while they're with the patient, and send
it in to the Circle tearmn - so we have a data-rich
understanding of quality in
community care, Thanks to
this technology, we're now
able to steer physios across
the county towards the
best outcomes and share
best practice.”
ZARATHOMAS MSK
TECHNOLOGY LEAD,
CIRCLEBEDFORDSHIRE MSK ®

who have a proven track record of innovation in
healtheare delivery. Our plans are to focus on creating
and adopting new technologies from around the world
into the UK healthcare market — which is facing
unprecedented pressures on its finances. We felt
that Circle were the best partner to wark with.

RAJIB BHATTACHARYA VICE PRESIDENT,
TECH MAHINDRA
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OUR TELEDERM SERVICE,
44 LAUNCHED IN AUTUMN 2015 5,

gives GPs in Nottingham a specialist bit of equipment - a dermatoscope - attached
ONE ANSWER to a very common technology — an iPhone.

!
TOTHE NHS The practice takes images of a skin condition, and sends it in to cur team for review.
EFFIC'ENCY They are checked within 48 hours, and either asked to come in to hospital, or told it's

CHALLENGE not urgent and can be treated in primary care,

ISTO USETECHNOLOGY This way, we speed up diagnosis of conditions, and can fast-track patients with
TO MAKE SURE conditions like skin cancer — but ensure that those who have

CONSULTANTS'TIME IS benign conditions don't unnecessarily see a consultant, and

FOCUSED_ don't spend weeks worrying they might have a serious illness.
The overall effect is faster care, better care, and cheaper care.
NIKKI LUCAS TELEDERM LEAL, CIRCLENOTTINGHAM
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General

The Company, being quoted on AIM, 15 not
required to comply with the prowvisions of
the UK Corporate Governance Code {the
‘Code’) Nevertheless, the directors are
committed to the highest standards of
corporate governance, and have voluntarily
complied wath elements of the Code 1ssued
by the Financial Reporting Council where
relevant and appropriate to the Company
As envisaged by the Cade, the Board has
established three committees an Audit
and Risk Comnttee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Nomination Committee

In addition, the Board has authorised a
Market Disclosure Committee and the

IGC, with the latter reparting on clinical,
operational and financial matters into

the Audit and Risk Commuttee These
commuttees operate within defined terms
of reference, as determned by the Board,
details of which are publicly available at
the Group’s registered office The functions
and responsibitities of each commutiee are
described below, and the members of each
committee are listed in the biographies of
the Board of Directors on pages 24 to 26

The Board

The Board of Directors compnses a non-
executive charman, four independent non-
executive directors, and three executive
directors (Chief Executive Cfficer, Chief
Medical Officer and Chief Financial
Officer) The profiles of the current
executive directors and non-executive
directors are set out on pages 24 to 26
The Articles of Association allow no
fewer than three directors

The Code recommends that the Board
should comprise at least two non-executive
directors, deterrmined by the Board to be
independent in character and judgement,
and free from relationships or arcumstances
which may affect, or could appear to affect,
the directors’ jJudgement The Board
considers that the Company comphlies with
the requirements of the Code In this regard

The non-executive directors contnibute a
wide range of skills and expenence, forming
a strong and independent element within
the Board The non-executive directors
recewve a fixed fee for services rendered,
are appointed for an initial period of
three years, which may be extended by
agreement with the Board, are subject to
re-election by shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting ('AGM'), and are not
employees of the Company at the trme
Their opimions carry significant weight

in the decision-making processes, both
operational and financial, and they are free
from any business or personal relationshups
that could interfere with their independent
judgement The non-executive directors
ensure that some meetings are set astde
during the year without the executive
directors present Lorramne Baldry OBE,

1s the nominated senior independent non-
executive director to whom shareholders,
directors and ernployees may raise
concerns which normal channels have
failed to resolve or are otherwise not
appropriate

The Chairman is responsible for teadership
of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness
in all aspects of the role, including

+ managing the Board,

+ ensunng that sufficent time 15 allowed
for the discussion of complex or
contentious 1ssues,

+ ensuning a regular evaluation of the
performance of the Board as a whole, its
commuttees and individual directors, and

+ taking the lead in identifying and
meeting the development needs of
individuat directors and the Board
as awhole

The Board and its subcommittees meet
at regular intervals throughout the year
and have reserved for therr consideration
matters including

+ the responsibility for the overall strategy
of the Group,

« significant capital expenditure projects,
budget approval and any major financial
proposals,

+ ensuring effective systems of internal
control and risk management,

+ regulatory compliance,

- approval of public announcements and
communications with shareholders,

+ approval of the Annual Report and
financial statements, and

« remuneration of key senior employees

Detailed monthly operational, clinical
and financial information is provided to
the Board in a timely manner to enable
It to discharge its duties Fhis includes
information on the historic, budgeted
and forecast financial performance of
the business, as well as key performance
indicators covenng volumes, revenue and
EBITDA, to allow the Board to challenge
Group management effectively A budget
15 agreed by the Board annually, and
performance agamst budget is reported
monthly

The Board ensures that all directors
receive appropriate training and induction,
as required, and that they are able to take
independent professional advice in the
furtherance of their duties The Board may
appoint a director and revoke or terminate
the appointment of a director as it thinks
fit Any director so appeinted shall offer
himself or herself for reappointment at \
the first AGM following appointment No
director shall remain in office for longer
than three years since their last election or
re-election without submitting themselves
for re-election The shareholders may also
remove a director by ordinary resolution

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Commuttee's role 1s to
assist the Board with the discharge of 1ts
responsibilities in relation to internal and
external audits and controls, including
reviewing the Group's Annual Report and
Jinancial statements, considering the scope
of the annual audit and the extent of the




\

34 CIRCLE HOLDINGS PLC

REPORYT ON CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE

Continued

non-audit work undertaken by external
auditors, advising on the appamtment
of external auditors, reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control
systems in place within the Group, and
determining and reviewing the nature
and extent of the nisks facing the Group
The Audit and Risk Commuttee meets
not less than four times a year

The Code recommends that all members

of the Audit and Risk Committee be
non-executive directors, and that the
commitlee 1s not chaired by the Chairman
of the Board The Company complies with
the requirements of the Code in this regard

Reporung inte the Audit and Risk
Commuttee is the IGC, which s chaired
by the Chief Medical Officer, Dr Massoud
Foutad), who also sits on the Board Further
details are provided in the principal nisks
and uncertanties section of the Drrectors’
report on pages 28 to 29

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee recommends
pobaes the Group should adopt on executive
remuneration, determines the levels of
remuneration for each of the executive
directors, and 15 also inwvited to attend
meetings of the Remuneration Committee

of Circle Health Lirmited The Remuneration
Commutiee generates an annual

remuneration report to be approved

by the members of the Company at the
AGM The minutes of the Remuneration
Committee are circulated to, and reviewed
by, the Board The Remuneration Committee
meets not less than twice a year, and the
Directors’ remuneration report is set out
on pages 36 to 39

The Code recommends that all members
of the Remuneration Committee be
non-executive directors, and the Group
complies with the requirements of the
Code in this regard

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Commuttee assists the
Board in determining 1Its composition,
desired balance of skills and potentiat
Board candidates as the need may
anise, and formulates the succession
plans for the Chawman It recommends
to the Board the succession ptans for the
Chief Executive Officer The Nomtnhation
Commuittee meets at least once a year
and whenever necessary to fulfil its
responsibilities

The Code recommends that a majonty
of the Nemination Committee be
nan-executive directors, and the Group
complies with the requirements of the
Code in this regard

Market Disclosure Committee
The Market Disclosure Commuttee

assists the Group in meeting its obligations
to announce price-sensitive and other
significant information, and decide quickly
whether an announcement abligation has
ansen under the AIM Rules for Companies
and related legislation

The Code does not require companies

to have a Market Disclosure Committee,
but the directors consider 1t best practice
to have such a committee

Performance evaluation
and attendance

The Board has undertaken a formal
evaluation of its own performance
and that of its commuttees through
the circulation and completion of a
comprehensive questionnaire Having
considered the results of the questionnaire,
the directors have concluded that the
Board and its committees continue to
function effectively, and that the other
comrmitments of the Chairman and
directors are such that all directors
are capable of devoting sufficient
time to the Company

Attendance by the directors at the various
committees during the year was as follows

Market

Dhsclosure Audit and Risk Remuneration Nom:nation

Board Committee Committee Commuttee Comnutiee

Lorraine Baldry n N/A 4 4 3
Massoud Foulad: 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Lord Hutton 10 N/A N/A 3 2
Justmn Jewitt n N/A 4 N/A N/A
Michael Kirkwaod " 2 N/A 4 3
Steve Melton n 2 N/A N/A N/A
Paolo Pien 1 2 N/A N/A N/A
Andrew Shilston 1 N/A 4 4 3
Total meetings held 11 2 4 4 3
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Relations with shareholders
The Company maintains a regular dialogue
with fund managers, other investors

and analysts, usually following the
announcement of Interim and final results,
to ensure that the investing community
receives a balanced and consistent view
of the Group’s performance The principal
docurnents received by shareholders are
the Interim Report, Annual Report and
financial statements, and any arculars

as appropnate The Company's AGM
provides an opportunily to respond

to shareholders’ questions

Employee involvernent

Circle 15 a secially responsible emplayer,
and various wutiatives are in place to
ensure that staff are treated fairly as

they are cniticat to its clinical, commercial
and operational success Communication

15 cniticat to employee relations, and the
Croup uses bi-weekly business updates
with all sites present via teleconference to
ensure employees are fully informed about
plans and progress Commurications from
the Human Resources Department notify
all staff of any changes to personnel duning
the year Semu-annual off-site meetings are
held for management and directors to
review strategy implementation and key
business opportunities Annual performance
reviews are conducted for employees, and
individual traning and development needs
are identified to ensure staff receive
supplementary traming

The Group 15 25% owned by the

CPBT, which holds shares on behalf of
employees and clinicians who work In
the Group's facilities, and who receive
share options linked to their performance
This performance-based incentive scheme
strengthens our identity and ethos as an
employee co-owned company

Disabled employees

The Group gives full consideration to
applications for employment from disabled
persons, where the candidate’s particular
aptitudes and abilities are consistent with
adequately meeting the requirements of
the job Opportunities are available to
disabled employees for training, career
development and promotion

Where existing employees become disabled,
it is the Group's palicy to provide continuing
employment wherever practicable in the
same or an alternalive positron, and to
provide appropriate traiming to achieve
this aim

Equality

Circle seeks to be a socially responsible
Group which has a positive impact on
the communities it operates in We look
te employ a workforce which reflects the
diversity of the Group's communities
No discnmenation 15 tolerated, and we
endeavour to give all employees the
opportunity to develop their capabilities

Envircnmental matters
The services provided by the Group
have mimimal environmental impact
However, the Board believes that good
environmental practices support the
Group's strategy by enhancing the
reputation of the Group and impreving
the efficiency of running hospitals
Consequently, the Group continues
to put envirgrimental responsibilities
hugh on the agenda

The Group and its employees try to
ensure that both services and products
are procured in an environmentally
frendly manner, and that waste materials
are disposed of appropriately, including
recyching where economically possible

The Group makes extensive use of electromic
comrmunications to reduce the amount of
printing waste produced Where appropriate,
electronic communication methods such
as email, telephone and video conference
facilities are used to avoid non-essential
travel The Group does not offer a Company
car scheme to employees, and encourages
1ts employees to travel to work using public
transport or a 'bike-to-work’ scheme

Ethical conduct

The Board 15 committed to uphold ethical
conduct throughout the Group, and has
in place confidential whistlebtowing and
anti-bnbery policies that enable unresolved
concerns to be escalated to the Board's
senior Independent non-executive director
These policies are made available to all
employees via a web-based policy
management system that enables
periodic monitoring

Health and safety

The Group 1s commutted to protecting
and enhancing the health and safety

of 1ts employees, and all patients who
are treated in the facilities it operates
The Group operates a formal health and
safety risk assurance framework, which 1s
regularly monitored by a dedicated health
and safety officer who provides monthly
reports to the management teams at the
operational level, and quarterty reports
to the Group’s IGC Under the framework,
sigmificant incidents are reported without
delay to the Board

Michael Kirkwood CMG
Chairman
29 March 2016
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policy and details of directors’ remuneration. , The Chapel, Circle Head Office, Londpn
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Remuneration Committee
The members of the Remuneration
Committee are set out on pages 24
to 26, and the role of the Remuneration
Committee 1s set out in the Report on
corporate governance on page 34

Remuneration policy

Executive remuneration packages are
designed to attract, motivate and retain
directors, and to reward them for enhancing
value to shareholders The performance
measurement of the executive directors
and key members of senior management,
and the determination of ther annual
remuneration package, Is undertaken

by the Remuneration Committee The
Board determines the remuneration

of the non-executive directors

There are several elements to the
remuneration pobcy

Basic salary

Executive directors’ base salanes are
set by the Remuneration Committee,
taking into account the individual’s
level of responsibility, expenence and
performance Salary levels are reviewed
annually In setting base salary levels,
the Remuneration Comimuttee also takes
mto accourtt salary levels in comparable
companies

Pension scheme

The Group made contributions on behalf
of executive directors during the year to
a defined contribution pension scheme
which was introduced in 2012

Taxable and other benefits
These include items such as private
medical insurance and dental plans
These benefits are in line wath the
remuneration policy framework

Share incentive plans

The CPBT holds a 25% interest in the
1ssued share capital of the company,
in the form of convertible and ordinary

Non executive dwector

Number of erdinary shares held on
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015

Michael Kirkwood 94,157
Lorraine Baldry 47,078
Andrew Shilston 47,078

shares, on behalf of employees and
climcians The ordinary shares are to

be used to satisfy options granted under
the Company's share incentive plans in
accordance with the terms previously
approved by the Campany's sharehotders
It enables the participants (including
executive directors) who contnibute to
the success and growth in value of the
Group to be owners of the business The
convertible shares automatically convert
in two equal tranches in June 2016 and
December 2017 into ordinary shares

Share issue to non-executive
directors

There have been no shares 1ssued to
nan-executive directors during the year

The ordinary shares granted to non-
executive directors cannot be sold or
transferred until one year following the
end of the non-executive directors’ term
of service The named non-executive
directors do not hold any other interests in
the ordinary share capital of the Company

Share 1ssue to directors
In December 2013, the Company agreed to
grant to the Group's Chief Financial Officer

Shares in Circle Holdings plc

options to subscnbe for 2,200,000 ordinary
shares at an exercise price of £0 02 per
ordinary share This separate incentive
arrangement was agreed, given he was not
a participant in the Group’s former share
seheme, nor had he previously received
as remuneration any shares or options

m the Company since joining in 2010
The options were granted in December
2014, and vested in two equal tranches
in December 2074 and December 2015
An IFR$ 2 charge of £485,000 (excluding
National Insurance contribution costs) was
recogruised 1n the year (2014 £572,100)

In January 2015, the Company agreed
to grant share options to the Group's
executive directors under a MIP In
accordance with the terms of the MIP,
a combination of options with exercise
prices of £0 02 and £0 50 were granted
in June 2015, and will vest based on a
required halding period and certan share
price triggers The earliest exercise date
15 1 December 2016 The IFRS 2 charge
recognised during 2015 in relation to
the share options granted to the Group’s
directors under the MIP scheme was
£633,000 (2014 nil)

Circle Holdings Crrcle Holdings

plc convertible plc converuble Total

(18 months) {36 months) convertible

shares shares shares

Massoud Foutad 1,181,233 1,181,233 2,362,466
Steve Melton 197,944 197,944 395,888
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Share options in Circle Holdings plc

At At
Exercrse Earligst 1january Awards 31 December
Share oplions price date 2015 n year 2015
2015 award name Pence vesting Number Number Number
Massoud Foulad MIp 2 Dec 16 - 1,000,000 1,000,000
MIP 50 Dec 16 - 1,344,090 1,344,090
- 2,344,090 2,344,090
Steve Melton MIP 2 Dec 16 - 2,500,000 2,500,000
MIP 50 Dec 16 - 1,254,782 1,254,782
MIP CSOP 50 Jjun18 - 60,459 60,459
- 3,815,241 3,815,241
Paclo Pien CFO share option award 2 Oec 15 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
MIP 2 Dec 16 - 1,150,000 1,150,000
MIP 50 Dec 16 - 486,281 486,281
2,200,000 1,636,281 3,836,281
2,200,000 7,795,612 9,995,612

Share warrants

Health Trust {Jersey) holds a total of
2,340,765 share warrants at an exercise
price af £1 52, which entitles rt to an
equivalent number of ordinary shares
i the Company None of the warrants
have been exercised to date

Service contracts

The Company’s policy is for executive
directors’ service contract notice penods
to be no longer than 12 months, with the
directors having to give not less than six
months’ written notice {n the event of
termunation, the Company will seek fair
mitigation of contractual nghts Within
legal constraints, the Remuneration
Commuttee tailors its approach, in

the event of early termination, to the
circumstances of each individual case

The contracts of executive directars do
not provide for any enhanced payments
i the event of a change of control in
the Company

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are appomnted

for an imittal period of three years, which
may be extended by agreement with the
Board, subject to re-election by shareholders
at the AGM Such appointment may be
terrminated by the Board or the director
with one month's notice None of the
non-executive directors is engaged on

a service contract with the Company

The Charman’s remuneration was
determined by the Board, based on industry
practice and taking into account relevant
responsibilibies and time commitment

The remuneration for non-executive
directors consists of fees for services In
connecbion with Board and comrmttee
meetings, and share options Fees for non-
executive directors are determined by the
Board, within the restnictions contained
in the Articles of Association The levels
of remuneration for the non-executive
directors reflect the tirme commitment
and responsibilities of the role The non-
executive directors are not involved in
deaiding ther fees

Individual emoluments
for the year

The table below shows a breakdown,
includsng taxable and other benefits,
for each director for the year
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Annual Total salary
contracted Annual Pension and other
salanes/fees salanes/fees scheme Cther benehits
2015 £ 000 £ 000 £000 E'000 £'000
Executive
Steve Melton 339 339 - 2 EL)|
Massoud Foulad 158 158 24 - 182
Paoclo Pien 210 210 32 1 243
Non-executive
Michael Kirkwood 100 100 - - 100
Lorraine Baldry 53 53 - - 53
Lord Hutton of Furness 40 40 ~ - 40
Justin Jewitt 40 40 - - 40
Andrew Shilston 48 48 - - 48
988 988 56 3 1,047
Annuat Total salary
contracted Annual Pension and other
salaries/feas salares/fees scheme Other benefits
2014 £000 £'000 E00Q £'000 £000
Executive
Steve Melton 339 328 15 2 345
Massoud Foulad 158 158 24 - 182
Paclo Pien 210 210 3 1 242
Non-executive
Michael Kirkwood 100 100 - - 100
Lorraine Baldry 53 53 - - 53
Lord Hutton of Furness 40 23 - - 23
Justin Jewitt 40 23 - - 23
Andrew Shilston 48 48 - - 48
Tony Bromovsky 40 L - - 7
Tim Bunting - - - - 0
1,028 960 70 3 1,033

No directors waived emoluments in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014 none}

L Bty

Lorramne Baldry OBE

Chair, Remuneration Committee

29 March 2016

On 4 Decernber 2014 Gircle Holdings plc acquired ali the issued shares of Circle Partnership Limited by means of

a Stheme of Arrangement As consideration the Company issued convertible shares {18 months) and convertible
shares (36 months) of £0 02 each

Convertible (18 months) shares - the shares of £0 02 par value each in the capital of Circle Holdings ple which are
corvertible into Circle Holdings shares in accordance with the provisions of the Circle Holdings New Articles either
on such date as ts 18 months from the date of their issue, or otherwse as provided in the Circle Holdings New Articles
Convertible (36 months) shares — the shares of £0 02 par value each in the capital of Circle Holdings plc which are
convertible nto Crrcle Holdings shares in accordance with the provisions of the Circle Holdings New Articles, either
on such date as 15 36 months from the date of thewr issue, or athenwise as provided in the Curcle Holdings Mew Articles.
During 28615 no share eptions were exercised by the dwectors of Circle Holdings plc
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STATEMENT
OF DIRECTORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing
the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations

Dwrectors are required by Companies
(jersey) Law 1991 to prepare financial
statements for each financial year The
directors have elected to prepare the
Group financial staterments m accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards {'IFRSs'), as adopted by the
European Union and the Company financial
statements, in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (FRS 101}, as well as applicable
law Under Company law, the directors
must not approve the financial statements
untess they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affas
of the Group and the Company, and the
profit or loss of the Group for that period
in preparing these financial statements,
the directors are required to

« select surtable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently,

- make Judgements and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent,

« state whether applicable IFRSs and
FRS 101 as appropriate, have been
fellowed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and exptained
in the financial statements, and

- prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basts, unless it 1s
mappropriate to presurme the Company
and the Group will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the Group's
and Company's transactions, and disclose
with reasonable accuracy, at any time,

the financial position of the Group and

the Company, and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with
Compantes (fersey) Law 1991 They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integnty of the Company's
website Legislation in the United Kingdom
gaverning the preparation and dissemination
of finanaial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions

Each of the directors, whosae names
and functions are listed in the Board
of Dwectors’ report, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge

+ the Group financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with
IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, give a true
and fair view of the assets, habilities,
financial position and loss of the
Group, and

* the Directors’ report includes a
fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the
positicn of the Group, together with
a description of the principal nisks
and uncertainties that it faces

Disclosure of information
to auditors

So far as the directors are aware,

at the tirme the report)s approved

+ there s no relevant audit information
of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware, and

+ each director has taken all the steps
that he or she cught to have taken
as a director in order to make himself
or herself aware of any relevant audit
information, and to establish that the
Company's auditors are aware of the
information

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have
indicated their willingness to continue
in office A resolution concerning their
reappointment will be proposed at
the AGM

On behalf of the Board

Steve Melton
Chief Executive Officer
29 March 2016
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the members of Circle Holdings plc

Report on the Group
financial statements

Our opinion

in our opiruon, Circle Holdings plc's
Group financial statements {the ‘financial
statements’}

+ give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group’s affairs as at 31 December
2015, and of 1ts loss and cash flows
for the year then ended,

+ have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs, as adopted
by the European Urion, and

- have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies
(Jersey) Law 1991

What we have audited
The financial statements, included
within the Annual Report, comprise

+ the consobidated balance sheet as at

31 December 2015,

the consohdated income statement

for the year then ended,

the consoldated statement of cash

flow for the year then ended,

the consobdated statement of changes

in equity for the year then ended, and

+ the notes to the financial statements,
which include a summary of sigificant
accounuing polices and other
explanatory informatron

Certam required disclosures have been
presented elsewhere in the Annual Report,
rather than in the notes to the hinancial
staterments These are cross-referenced
from the financial statements and are
identified as audited

The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in the preparation of the
financial statements 1s IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union, and applicable law

In applying the financial reporting
framewaork, the directors have made

a number of subjective judgements,
for example, 1n respect of significant
accounting estimates |n making such
estimates, they have made assumptions
and considered future events

Opinton on other matter

In our opinion, the information given in the
Directors’ report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared
15 consistent with the financial statements

Other matters on which

we are required to report

by exception

Accounting records and infermation
and explanations received

Under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991,
we are required to report to you if, in

our cpinion

= we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our
audit, or

- proper accounting records have not
been kept, or

= proper returns adequate for our sudit
have not been recerved from branches
not visited by us, or
the financial statements are not
in agreement with the accounting
records and returns

We have no exceptions to report arising
from this responsibility

Responsibilities for the
financial statements and
the audit

Our responsibtlities and those

of the directors

As explained more fully mn the Statement
of directors’ responsibilities set out on page
41, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view

Qur responsibility 15 to audtt and express
an opinion on the financial statements

in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs’)
{UK and Ireland) Those standards require
us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opimions, has been
prepared for, and only for, the Company’s
members as a body in accordance with
Article 1134 of the Companies {Jersey) Law
1991 and for no other purpose We do not,
n giving these opinens, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to
any other person te whom this report 1s
shown or inte whose hands it may come,
save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent (n writing

What an audit of financial
statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance
with ISAs (UK and Ireland) An audit
involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements
are free from material rmisstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error

This includes an assessment of

+ whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the Group's crcumstances,
and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed,

» the reasonableness of sigrificant
accounting eshmates made by the
directors, and

+ the overall presentation of the
financial statements

We pnmanly focus our work in these areas
by assesstng the directors’ judgements
against available evidence, forming our
own judgements, and evaluating the
disclosures in the financial statements
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We test and examimne information, using
sampling and other auditing techniques,
to the extent we consider necessary to
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw
conclustons We obtain audit evidence
through testing the effectiveness of
controts, substantive precedures, or

a combination of both

In addition, we read all the finanoial and
non-financial informatien in the Annual
Report to rdentify material inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements,
and to identify any information that 1s
apparently matenally incorrect, based
on, or matenally inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the course
of performing the audit If we become
aware of any apparent matenal
misstatements or inconsistencies, we
consider the implicatians for our report

Other matter

We have reported separately on
the Company financial statements
of Circle Holdings ple for the year
ended 31 December 2015

W

Simon O’Brien (Sentor Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and

Recognised Auditors

London

29 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Note £'000 £:000
Revenue 4 127,790 110,983
Cost of sales (90,335) {80,373)
Gross profit 37,455 30,610
Admiristrative expenses before exceptional items (47,934) (43,939)
Operating loss before exceptional items s {10,479) {(13,329)
Exceptional operating items 6 ___(389) {5,341}
Operating loss 5 (10,868) (18,670)
Finance income 10 s 181
Finance costs 9 (793} {9171}
Exceptional finance items 6 - (625)
Provision for joint venture deficit 15 - (130}
Loss before taxation (11,656) (20,155}
Income tax 12 - -
Loss for the financial year {11,656) (20,155}
Loss for the year attributable to
— Owners of the parent (11,656) (8,055}
- Non-controlling interests - {12,100)
(11,656) (20155)
Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share attributable to the owners of the parent {pence) 1 (47) {(43)

There 1s no other comprehensive income ansing in the Group (2014 £mil) and, therefore, no separate statement of other
comprehensive ncome has been prepared
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CONSOLIDATED
JALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Nate £'000 E'000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 5,340 5,562
Property, plant and equipment 14 17,550 17,498
_Trade and other receivables 17 2,500 2,500
25,390 25,560
Current assets
Inventories 6 1.876 1,806
Trade and olher receivables 17 14,692 16,683
Cash and cash equivalents 18 14,998 24,496
31,566 42,985
Total assets 56,956 68,545
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 19 (19.902) {21,256}
Loans and other borrowings 20 (2,332) (1,922}
(22,234) {23,178)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (1,979} (2.074)
Loans and other borrowings 20 (7,282} (8,869)
Provisions 21 {50) (50)
(9,311) (10,993)
Total Liabilities (31,545} (34171}
Net assets 25,411 34,374
Share capital 22 4,956 4,956
Share prermium 22 236,795 236,795
Other reserves 22 22182 22,82
Warrant reserve 23 22,703 22,703
Share-based charges reserve 24 4535 1,842
Treasury share reserve 22 (9,587) (9,587)
Retained deficit {256,173) (244,517}
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 2541 34,374
Non-controlling interests - -
Total equity 25,411 34,374

The financial statements on pages 44 to 86 were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by

Steve Melton /é i Paolo Pian

Chief Executive OFficer ~ Chief Financial Officer
Circle Holdings pic

Registered number 100016 (Jersey)
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2015

Equity
Treasury  Share based attnbutable Non-

Share Share Other Warrant share charpes Retained 10 ownersof  controlling Total

capital premmum reserves reserve reserve reserve deficit the parent Interests equity

£000 £'000 E£'000 £'000 E'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 E'000
At 1 January 2014 2,616 19345 22,182 22,703 - 151 {169,980} 70,817 (42,950} 27,867
Loss and total
comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - - - {8,055} (8,055) (12,100} (20,155)
Transactions with owners
Issue of shares in relation
to fundraising (note 22) 1,100 26,400 - - - - - 27,500 - 27,500
Caprtabised costs in relabion
to fundraising (rote 22) - {(1,280) - - - - - [1,280) - [(1,280)
Effect of shares vesting
in the period {note 23) - - - - - - 6,439 6,439 (6,439} -
Issue of shares in
respect of Project
Reset (notes 22 and 23) 1239 19,780 - - (9,587) - (72921} (61,489) 61,489 -
Issue of shares to acquire
unvested shares in Circle
Partnershup Lirmited in
respect of Project Reset
(note 24) - - - - - 1,105 - 1,105 - 1,105
Capitalised costs in relation
to Project Reset (note 23) - (1,250) - - - - - (1,250) - (1250)
Issue of shares 1n respect
of awards to non-executive
directors {note 23) 1 - - - - 14 - 15 - 15
Other share-based
charpes [note 24) - - - - - 572 - 572 - 572
At 1 January 2015 4,956 236,795 22,182 22,703  (9,587) 1,842 (244,517) 34,374 - 34,374
Loss and total
comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - - - (1m656) (11,656) - (11,6586)
Transactions with owners
Share-based charges
{note 24) - - - - - 2,693 - 2,693 - 2,693
At 31December 2015 4956 236,795 22,182 22,703  (9,587) 4,535 (256,173) 2541 - 25,41
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014

Note £000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash outflow from operating activities 27 (4,642) (8,361)
Interest paid {793) {1,536)
Net cash used in operating activities (5,435) (9.897)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of computer software 13 {51) (M2}
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {1,998) (1,383)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,049) (1,495)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 22 - 27,500
Capitalised costs in relation to fundraising 22 - (1,280}
Capitalised costs in relation to Group restructuring - (1,250)
Repayment of borrowings 28 - -
Repayment of finance lease 28 {2,019) {1,660)
Interest receved 10 5 181
Movement in restricted cash
~ Release of minimum balance — GE Capital Equipment Finance Limited ('GE’) 28 - 1.800
- Release of committed cash in respect of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust deposit 28 - 2,000
Net cash {outflow}/inflow from financing activities (2.014) 27,291
Net (decrease)/increase in unrestncted cash and cash equivalents (9,498) 15,899
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginming of the year 24,496 8,597
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14,998 24,496
Cash and cash equivalents consist of
Cash at bank and in hand 14,998 24,496
Unrestricted cash at bank and i hand 14,998 24,456
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Circte Holdings pic (the 'Company’), its
subsidiartes and joint venture {together
the ‘Group’} provide healthcare services
in the UK

The Company 15 a public imited company
and 1s incorporated In Jersey, however,
1t1s resident in the UK for tax purposes
The registered office 1s 12 Castle Street,
St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RT

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting pohicies applied
in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are set out below
These policies have been consistently
applied to both years presented,

unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with
IFRSs, as adopted by the European Union
and IFRIC interpretations, Companies
{Jersey) Law 1991, on a going concern basis
and under the histoncal cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets and financial habbities {including
derivative financial instruments) In ther
preparation, managerment must make
certain cntical accounting estimates

and exercise judgement 1n the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies
The arcas involving a higher degree of
Judgement, assumplion or estimates
which are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are set out at the
end of note 2

1Items included in the results of each of the

Group's subsidianes are measured using the
functional currency, which in all instances is

Sterling The Group's consolidated financiat

statements and parent company statements

are presented in Sterbing All financial

information presented has been rounded
to the nearest thousand

New standards, amendments

and interpretations

These consolidated fiancial statements
are prepared 1n accordance with IFRSs,

as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board {'IASB’), and as adopted
by the European Union as at 31 December
2015 The following standards have been
adopted by the group for the first time for
the financial year beginning on or after
1January 2015, but have not had matenal
impact on the Group

+ Amendments to IFRSs Annual
improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 cycle

+ Amendments to IFRSs Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 cycle

New standards and

interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments
to standards and interpretations are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after
1January 2015, and have not been applied

In preparing these consol:dated financial
statements None of these are expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, although
the full impact 1s currently still under review

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as
revised m 2014) will supercede IAS 39
Financial Instrurments Recognition and
Measurement, upon 1ts effective date
(annuat periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018)

+ IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers 1s a converged standard
fromthe IASB and Financial Accounting
Standards Board ('FASB') on revenue
recognition The standard will improve
the financial reporting of revenue and
improve comparability of the top line in

financial statements globally Effective
date 15 expected to be annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017
The impact of this standard 15 currently
under review

+ Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting
Jor Acquisitions of Interests i jomnt
Operations provide guidance on how
to account for the acquisibons of a joint
aperation that constitutes a business, as
defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations
Effective for annual peniods beginning on
or after 1 January 2016

+ Amendments to |1AS 1 Disclosure
inttiative give some guidance on how
to apply the concept of matenality in
practice it s effective for annual perieds
beginming on or after 1 January 2016

» Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 28 Investment Entities Applying
the Consolidation Exception The
amendments clanfy that the exemption
from preparing consolidated financial
staternents 1s available to a parent entity
that is a subsidiary of an investment
entity, even f the investment entity
measures all its subsidiaries at fair
value in accordance with IFRS 10
Thus 1s effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016}

+ Annual Improvernents to IFRSs
2012-2014 cycle

+ IFRS 16 Leases issued in January 2016
and applies to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Coing concern

The directors cansider it to be appropriate
for the financial statements to be prepared
on a going concern basis, based on the
assumptions considered in the Directors’
report on page 27
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AOTES 1O THE CONSOUDATED
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Contlnued

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The results of subsidianes {defined as
entities over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating
policies of the subsidiary} are consohdated
from the date on which control of Lhe net
assets and operations of the acquired
company are effectively transferred to the
Group Sumilarly, the results of subsidianes
disposed of cease to be consolidated from
the date on which control of the net assets
and operations are transferred out of

the Group

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair value of the
assets transferred, the habilities incurred
to the lormer owners of the business and
the equity interests issued by the Group
Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent Liabilities assumed i a business
combination are measured at their far
values at the acquisition date Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred

The esults of the subsidiaries are measured
as at the same reporting date as the parent
company using consistent accouning
policies Intra-group transactions and
balances are eliminated on consolidation

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported In

a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker, who 15 responsible

for allocaling resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments

Revenue

Revenue, which 1s measured as the fair
value of cansideration received for the
activity performed, represents the total

WCAL STATEMENTS

amounts derived primarily from the
prowision of healthcare services in the UK,
after deducting relevant discounts and
value added tax (where services provided
are not exempt) Revenue can be broken
down into the following categones

Any qualified provider

Any provider who is able to provide a
specific service that meets the required
minimum standards can be hsted as a
possible provider to deliver healthcare on
behalf of the NHS at tanff Patients choose
their preferred provider under the national
e-Referral system (formerly Choose and
Book) Following the patients’ treatment
and subsequent discharge from hospital,
the Group will inveice the CCG directly at
tariff for the medical procedure performed
No provider is guaranteed any volume or
exclusmity

For non-fixed payments at treatment
centres, outpatient revenue 1s recognised
for a bundle consisting of an initial
appontment and follow-ups, at completion
of the first appointment, with any uplifts
for outpatient procedures recognised at
the time of the procedure

Contracts with guaranteed payments
The new Bedfordshire MSK contract

has a term of five years The contract
aims to create a ‘prime provider’ which
takes responsibility for co-ordinating and
managing the rest of the system The main
contracting parties are Bedford CCG and
local care prowiders The contract revenue
15 spread over the term of the contractona
straight-line basis, as activity 1s expected to
increase by demographic growth only over
the five-year contract period Additional
revenue has been recognised, only to the
extent that there is a high probability of
recerving the revenue, and where 1t can

be measured accurately

Additional revenue has been recognised
n the financial statements relating to
groups of patients that fall outside the
initial contract scope

Circle bears the nsk and rewards of the
revenue and casts, mearung that an agency
relationship between Circle, Bedford CCG
and the providers does not exist As such,
Circle has recogmised the revenue and cost
separately in the profit and loss account

Private and self-pay

Payment Is based on procedures performed,
either at contractually agreed insurance
prices or self-pay rates, which are determined
by the specific procedure undertaken

In the case of private revenue, the
insurance companies pay the consultants
directly, and Circle recogrises revenue for
use of the hospital, consumables and other
climical services

For self-pay, Circle recogruses that all
the revenue and cost of the consultant
15 charged to cost of sales

Other miscellaneous income

Other miscellaneous income primarily
relates to car parking revenue and
dehcatessen revenue This incorne

15 recognised at the point of sate
Consulting projects are recogmsed

by percentage of completion

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are disclosed and
described separatety in the financial
stalements where it 1s necessary to do
s0, to provide further understanding of
the financial performance of the Group
They are items of income or expense,
aither one-off In nature, non-cash, or of
such magnitude that the directors believe
separate disclosure i1s required to altow
readers to gamn an understanding of the
underlying results of the business
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The exceptional cost in the year ended
31 December 2015 was £389,000 (2014
£5,341,000)

There are no exceptional finance costs
duning 2015 {2014 625,000}

MNnance costs

Finance costs are recogmised on an effective
Inteiest rate basis in the period In which
they are incurred, except where they are
directly attributable to the acquisition or

production of a qualifying asset, which takes
a substantial penod of time to get ready for
intended use, such as the construction of a
hospitat In such cases, borrowing costs are

capitalised as part of the cost of that asset
from the first date on which expenditure

15 mcurted for the asset, provided that the
asset ts determined to be economically
viabte Capitalisation ceases when all the
activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for use are complete

Finance ncome
Finance income Is recognised as earned

Intangible assets
Intangible assets compiise

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the
fair value of the consideration of a business
combination over the Group’s share of the
fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities,
and contingent Liabalities of the business
acquired at the date of acquisition At the
date of acquisition, goodwill 1s allocated
at the lowest levels for which there are
separate identifiable cash flows for the
purpose of impairment testing

Computer software

Computer software (defined as software
that 1s not censidered an integral part
of the hardware equipment) represents
third-party costs incurred in relation to
the Group’s mformation technology
(') systems

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise third-
party 'know-how' costs which meet

the critena of 1AS 38 intangible Assets
Know-how costs are incurred in creating

a 'new-build programme’ to standardise
the design of future world-class hospitals,
by butlding them within a shortened time
frame, utilising standard build components
which have been manufactured off-site

Impairment and amortisatton

Assets that have an indefimite useful

life such as goodwill, or intangible assets
that are sull in their development phase,
are pot subject to amortisation, but are
tested annually for impairment, ar more
frequently If there are indications of
impairment Assets that are subject to
amortisation or depreciation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable
An impairment loss Is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds Its recoverable amount

The recoverable amount s the higher of
an asset’s fair value less cost to sell, and
value in use

Goodwill 1s initially recognised at cost
After imtial recognitian, goodwill 1s
measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses The value in use 15
calculated using an appropnate pre-tax
discount rate Gans and losses on disposal
of a business include the carrytng amount
of goodwill relating to the business sold

Computer software and other intangible
assets are stated at historic cost less
accumulated amortisation and imparment
losses Once the asset 15 complete,
amortisation 1s provided on a straight-hne
basis to allocate the cost of the asset over
its estimated useful bife, and the charge

I1s taken to administrative expenses The

intangible asset 15 assessed for impairment
whenever there 15 an indication that the

asset may be impaired

The useful economic life of the Group's
Intangtble assets 1s as follows

Computer software Three years

New-build programme
know-how

Five years

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment 1s stated

at hustoncal cost less accumulated
depreciation and impawrment losses
Histoncal cost comprises all amounts
directly attributable to making assets
capable of operating as intended, including
development costs and borrowing costs
where relevant

Depreciation is provided on all categones
of property, plant and equipment, with

the exception of freehold land and assets
under construction Depreciation i1s based
on cost less estimated residual value, and
13 provided on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset as follows

Leasehold land Life of lease

Shorter of
lease Life or
expected
useful LUfe
(five to ten
years)

Leasehold improvemnents

Three to
five years

Clinical equipment

Three to
ten years

Furniture, fittings

and office equipment
{including commissioning
costs)
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Residual values and useful lives are
reviewed at Lhe end of each reporting
penod The expected useful lives of the
assets to the business are reassessed
penadicatly in the light of experience
The carrying values of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed for impairment
when events or changes of arcumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be
1ecoverable

Assets under construction
Commissioning costs in course

of construction

Commussioning costs comprise staff,
property, consultancy and cperational
costs directly related to the comimisstoning
of new-build hospitals Such costs are
capitalised, provided the asset Is determined
to be economically viable, up to the paint
that the commussioning 15 complete and
the hospital s fully open for business,
subsequent te which further such
expenditure 1s charged to the income
statement Once commissioned, the
asset Is reclassified from ‘assets under
construction’ to the relevant property,
plant and equipment category, and
depreciated on a straight-line basis in
accordance with the estimated useful
bves as outlined above

Development costs in course

of construction

Development casts which are directly
attnibutable to the development of
property are capitalised as part of the
cost of the property The commencement
of capitalisation begins when development
costs for the property are being incurred,
and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset ready for use are 1in progress
Capitalisation ceases when all the activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for
use are complete

Leases

Where substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the leased item
are transferred to the Group, the lease 1s
classified as a finance lease and capitalised
at the fair value of the leased asset or, If
lower, at the present value of the minimum
future lease payments Lease payments
are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease Liability, 50 as
to achieve a constant rate of interest an the
iemaining balance of the liabibity Finance
charges are recognised in the income
staterment Leased assets are depreciated
over the useful life of the asset

Where the Group does not retain
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, leases are classified
as operating leases Operating lease rental
payments are recognised as an expense In
the mcome statement on a straight-line
basis over the lease term Lease incentives
are recognised over the lease term

Inventories

Inventories, primarly medical consumables,
are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value Cost comprises purchase
price less trade discounts, and 1s determined
on a first-in, first-out basis Net realisable
value means estimated selling price, less
all costs incurred in marketing, selling and
distnbution Obsolete stock 15 piovided for
in the incarme statement

Where title never transfers to the Group,
consignment stock 1s held off balance sheet

Trade recevabies

Trade recewables represent amounts

due from customers ansing from the
performance of services or sale of goods
Trade recewvables are initially recognised at
far value and, subsequently, measured at
amortised cost, which includes an

allowance for impairment where there
15 abjective ewidence that the Group will
not be able to collect all amounts due,
according to the oniginal terms of the
contract The allowance for impairment
1s the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value
of estimated cash flows, discounted

at the onginal effective Interest rate
The movementin the allowance for
impairment ts taken to administrative
expenses

Trade recevables are presented as current
where collection 1s expected within one
year or less, otherwise they are presented
as non-current

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash
in hand, deposits held at call with banks,
overnight deposits, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with orniginal
maturities of three months or less, and
bank overdrafts In the consolidated
balance sheet, bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current llabibities

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay

for goads or senvices that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers Trade payables are initially
recognised at fair value and, subsequently,
measured at amortised cost If payment s
contractually not due for mare than one
year, they are classified as non-current
liabilittes

Pension costs

The Group operates personal defined
contribution pension schemes Contributions
are charged to the income statement as they
become payable, in accordance with the
rules of the scheme The Group has no
further payment cbligation once the
contributions have been paid
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Cunent and deternied income taxation
Tax expense comprises current and deferred
tax The charge for current income tax

15 based on the results for the petiod, as
adjusted for iterns which are taxable or
deductible in other accounting periods,
and items not taxed or disallowed The
charge 1s calculated using tax rates that
have becn enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting penod

Deferred income tax 1s accounted for using
the babibty method in respect of temporary
differences ansing from differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and
ther carrying amounts in the consclidated
financial statements In principle, deferred
tax liabthities are recogrised for all taxable
temporary differences, and deferred tax
assels are recognised to the extent that

it 15 probable that taxable profits will

be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utibised Such
assets and habilities are not recognised

if the temporary difference 1s due to the
initial recogrition of goodwill ar from the
imitial recognition of an asset or liability

in a transaction (other than a business
combination), which at the time of the
transaction does not affect either taxable

or accounting profit

Deferred tax liabilities are recogrused for
Laxable temporary differences ansing on
investments in substdiaries and interests
In joint ventures, except where the Group
15 able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference, and it 1s probable
that the temporary difference will not
reverse In the foreseeable future

Deferred income tax assets and habilities
are offset when there 15 a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets agatnst
current tax babilities, and when the deferred
income Lax assets and hiabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authonity on either the taxable entity, or
different taxable entities where there s
an intention to settle the balances on

a net basis

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset 1s realised or the Liability 1s
settled using rates enacted, or substantively
enacted, at the end of the reporting period
Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in Lhe
consolidated ncome statement, except

to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly In equity In this case, the tax

15 also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it 1s probable that future
taxable profit will be avallable against
which the temporary differences can be
utiised The carrying amount of deferred
tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet
date, and reduced to the extent that itis
no tenger probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be avallable to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered

Provisions for other habilities

and charges

Prowsions are recognised when the Group
has a present abligation tn respect of a
past event, when 1L1s probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to
settle the oblipation and 1t can be reliably
estimated Provisions are discounted where
the time value of money is considered to
be matenal, using an appropniate rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific
to the obligation The unwinding of the
discount 1s recognised as a finance cost

Warrants

A warrant 1s an instrument ssued by

the Company which gives the holder the
right to purchase shares in the Company
at a specific price at a future date An
equity nstrurent 1s any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the Company after deducting all of its
habilities A warrant 15 treated as a financial
liability f

* it1s a non-denvative and the Group
15 obliged to deliver a vanable number
of its shares, or

* it 15 a derivative that will be settled
other than by a fixed amount of cash
or other assets for a fixed number of
the Company's own shares

Transaction costs are apportioned between
the hability and equity components of
the instrument, based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity
components when the instruments are
first recogmsed

Equity warrants

The proceeds on issue of equity warrants
are included within shareholders’ equity,
net of transaction costs The fair value of
the equity component ts not remeasured n
subsequent years The fair value of warrants
15 credited to equity with the debit being
charged to the income statement or taken
to hiabilities where the warrants are linked
to a loan

Equity warrants are valued using an
appropriate valuation methodology ona
diluted pncing basis, based on the relevant
share price at the time of 15sue or based on
an assessment of the market price at the
time of 1ssue

Share-based charges

Shares, and in some cases share warrants,
are 1ssued to employees and cansultants
The fair value of the employee services
recewved in exchange for the grant of the
shares or share warrants s recognised as
an expense, with a corresponding credit
to equity The total amount expensed

I1s determined by reference to the fair
value of the warrants granted, including

- any market performance conditions
such as an entity’s share price,

- non-market performance conditions
and service conditions included in
assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest, and

- the impact of any non-vesting conditions
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And excluding and estimates have the most sigmificant I
effect on the amounts recogmsed in the
* impact of any service and non-market consolidated financial statements
perfermance vesting condstions
(profitability, sates growth targets and Judgements
remaining an employee for a specified The key judgements that have a significant
penod of ime) 11sk of causing a matenal adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
The total expense 15 recogmised over within the next financial year are discussed
the vesting period, which is the period below
over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are expected to be satisfied 1 Revenueiccognition
Across the Group, a number of
Where modfications to existing share CCGs have signed up to a framework
oplions accur, the difference between the agreement, whereby, payment is made
revised charge and the existing charge will in advance based on mdicative volumes,
be recognised wn the income statement and then reconciled to actual volumes "
Dvidends over a period of up to three months when

the CCGs then approve the activity levels
Revenue 15 estimated and recogrnised
based an actiity performed in the
month, which had not been approved

al the end of the year

Dwvidend distnbution to the Company's
shareholders 15 recegnised as o Liability

1n the Group’s financial statements in the
penod in which the dwvidends are approved
by the Company's shareholders

The Bedfordshire MSK contract entitles

Circle to a revenue stream that Is pre-
determined by the programme budget
(‘capped’ budget) The annual revenue is
spread across the term of the contract,

and incorporates monthly seasonal w
fluctuations and demographic growth

In addition to this, the contract allows

for one-off payments from Bedford CCG

to Circle, in respect of treating inherited
activity outstde the imtial scope of the
contract A judgement has been taken

on the income per procedure, which s
expected to be recovered from the CCG

with reference to the income recovered
Significant accounting from similar procedures

judgements and estimates

In the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies, the directors make
Judgements and estimates concermng the
future The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results The following jJudgements

Shaie capital

Ordinary shares are classified as
equity Proceeds receved, net of any
directly attributable transactson costs,
are credited to share capitat (nominal
value) and share premium

Treasury shares

Following Project Reset, the CPBT

was 1ssued wrth shares in the Company
The Trust 1s conschdated in the financial
statements and, accordingly, shares held
by the Trust are recognised al cost as a
debit to equity in the Treasury share reserve

Estimates

The key assumptions and estimates at
the end of the reporting penod, that have
a sigficant risk of causing a matenal
adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and Liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below

Tax

The recognition of deferred tax assets 15
dependent upon an estimation of future
taxable profits that witl be available
aganst which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised Inthe
event that actual taxable profits are
different, such differences may impact
the carrying value of such deferred tax
assets in future years A deferred tax
asset has not been recognised in the
financtal statements due to uncertainty
over the availability of suitable future
taxable profits against which they will
reverse

Prowvisions

Provisions are assessed annually

in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy Provisions are
recognised where it 15 probable that
anoutflow of economic benefits will
occur as a resutt of a past event or
transaction, and a reliable estimate
of the outflow can be made In the
event that estimates are wrong, this
may impact the financial statements
in future years

Valuation of property, plant

and equipment

Freehold and leasehold land are held
at cost less accumulated impairment
losses These were subject to valuations
at 31 December 2012 by third-party
professtonal valuers to assess for any
indications of impairment The valuattons
were based on a number of factors,
including intended usage for the site,
potential rental value and, where
applicable, the length of the lease

In the event that estimates are wrong,
this may impact the financial statements
in future years
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Share-bascd charges

Share-based charges are based on
the share and warrant valuations
calculated, using several assumptions
{for example, share price volatlity and
ume constraints) mcluded within an
option pricing model In the event that
estimates are wrong, this may impact
the charge in future years

Useful lives and recoverability

of praperty, piant and equpment
Property, plant and equipment are
reviewed on a regular basis to check
they are sullin use, Lo ensure that their
useful econormic life 15 1n ine with the
expected hfe of the asset, and that their
carrying values are recoverable In the
event Lhat estimates are wrong, this
may impact the financial statements
in future years

Allowance for impairment

of trade 1ecewvables

An allowance for impairment of
trade receivables 1s made, based on
the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value
of estimated cash flows In the event
that esumates are wrong, this may
impact the financial statements i
future years

vt Goodwill and intangibles

Goodwill and intangibles are
recognised at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses
The carrying amount of goodwill 1s
assessed annually based on value-
in-use catculattons, using cash flow
projections based on fve-year financial
forecasts prepared by management
Key assumptions relating to forecasts
in revenue growth and decline are
used, which include discounting back
to present value using a nsk-adjusted
pre-tax discount rate of 10%, and
assumptions in terms of volume and
cost savings In the event that these
estimates are wrong, this may impact
the financial staternents in future years

ntangible assets that are subject
to amortisation are considered for
impairment when events or changes
n arcumstances indicate that

the carrying amount may not

be recoverable
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3 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The chief operating decisson-maker has been identified as the Board The Board reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources, and has dnaded the Group into three reportable business segments based on the Group's
management and internal reporting structure The Board assesses the performance of the segments based on revenue, gross profit,
EBITDA before exceptional stems and operating {loss)/ profit Measures of assets and habilities for each reportable segment 1s not
reviewed by the Board in the Group’s internal reporting All measures are prepared on a basis cansistent with that of the consolidated
income statement Revenue charged between segments has been charged at arm’s length and eliminated from the Group financial
statements

Revenue from external customers in the segmental analysis 15 alse measured in a manner consistent with the income statement This

15 split by hospital rather than by patient Circle hospital services include CircleReading, CircleBath and CircleNottingham Qther Circle
services include other non-hosprtal management services such as the contract with Bedfordshire CCG to provide MSK services to patients in
Bedfordshire Geographic factors are not considered, as the vast majonty of the Group's operations take place within the United Kingdom

All other

segments and
Crwele hospatal Other Circle unallocated Total
Services services items GTOUP
2015 £'000 £000 £'000 E'000
Revenue from external customers 98,952 28,771 67 127,790
Cost of sales (65,511) (24,824) - (90,335)
Gross profit 33,441 3,947 67 37,455
Adnmunsstrative expenses before exceptional items, depreciation and amorusation (32,904) (2,641) {9,338) (44,883)
EBITDA before exceptional items 537 1,306 (9,271} (7.428)
Depreciation and amortisation charge (2,782} (16) (253) (3,051}
Operating loss before exceptional items (2,245} 1,290 (9,524) (10,479)
Exceplional items - - {389) {389)
Operating loss {2.245) 1,290 (9,913) (10,868)
Finance sncome >
Finance costs {793}
Loss before taxation {11,656)

Other information

Capital additions 1,653 56 1182 2,891
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3 SEGMENTAL REPORTING continued

Altother
segments and
Circle hospital Other Cucle unallecated Total
sefvices SCrvices 1tems GIOUD
2014 £000 £'000 £000 £000
Revenue from external customers 89,407 21,557 19 110,983
_Cost of sales {60,212) {20767) " (80,373)
Gross profit 29,195 1,396 19 30,610
Administrative expenses before exceptional items, depreciation, amortisation
and charge recognised In respect of amounts recoverable on contract {(32,075) {2,547) (6,415) (41,037)
EBITDA before exceptional tems {2,880} {315Y) {6,396} {10,427)
Depreciation, amortisation and charge recogmsed
i respect of amounts recoverable on contract (2,448) (2} (452) (2,902)
Cperating loss before exceptional items (5.328) (1153) (6,848) {13,329)
Share-based charges in respect of awards and warrants 1ssued - - (1,756) (1,756)
Impairment of non-current assets - - (2.907) (2,907)
Provision for recewables - - {5,000) (5,000)
Other exceptional items - - 4,322 4,322
Operating loss (5,328) {1,153) (12,189) (18,670)
Finance mcome 181
Finance costs (911
Exceptional finance costs (625)
Provision for joint venture deficit (130)
Loss before taxation {20,155)
QOther information
Capuital additions 2070 29 210 2,309




50 CIRCIF HOLDINGS PLC

NS TO T CONSOUDATTED
CINAINCTAL STATEMERNTS

Continued
4 REVEMNUE
2015 2014
£000 £'000
Provision of healthcare services 127,321 110,547
Other miscellaneous income 469 436
127,790 110,983
5 OPERATING LOSS
2015 2014
MNote £000 £000
Operating loss 15 stated after charging/(crediting)
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 273 451
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 2,779 2,451
Auditors’ remuneration (see below) 291 564
Movement in provision for bad debts 17 222 (73)
Operating lease rental 10,445 11,579
Exceptional operating items 6 389 534
Auditors’ remuncration payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Fees payable Lo Company's auditors for the parent company and consolidated financial statements 94
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for other services
= The audit of Company's subsicharies 182 203
— Audit-related assurance services - 234
~ Tax advisory services 1 33
291 564
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G EBITDA AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Lxceptional operating items

2015 2014

Note £000 £ 000

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 - 2,907
Impairment of Hinchingbrooke working capital contributions - 5,000
Share-based charges 24 552 651
Provision for under-declared VAT in prior periods 21 - (226)
Restructurmg costs - 1105
Gain on the wind-up of joint venture activities (net of professional fees) - (4,750)
Other exceptional {income)/expense _183)__ 654
389 5,341

An IFRS 2 charge for the share options granted to the Group's Chief Finanaial Officer in the prior year amounted to £552,000, including
National Insurance contributions costs (2014 £651,000)

Other exceptional costs incurred relates to the release of a provision for advisory fees to assist the Group's consideration of potential
acquisitions This provision was recognised as an exceptional item in 2014 (2014 £654,000 exceptional cost recognised m retation to
adwisory fees)

Exceptional finance items

2015 2014
£ 000 E'000

Financing costs paid in respect of the final recourse guarantee mn relation
to the wind-up of activities in Health Propeities (Bath) Limited ('HP Bath') - 625

- 625
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7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
Staff costs

2015 2014
Note £000 £ 000
Wagces and salaries 29,487 25,695
Share-based charges 24 2,512 14
Socal secunity costs 2,715 2,404
C)Lher pension costs 25 1,452 1,492
36,166 29,605
Monthly average number of employees
2015 2014
Number Number
Admunisirative 529 451
Climcal 516 523
1,045 974
The average number of employees includes directors on a service contract
8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
2015 2014
£'000 £'000
Total salary and other benefits 1,047 1,033
IFRS 2 share-based payment charge 1118 583
Aggregate emoluments 2,164 1,616

Direclors’ emoluments relate to the non-executive and executive directors, who are remunerated by Circle Holdings ple and

Circle Health Limited

The directors had retirement benefit contributions during the year of £55,000 (2014 £70,000)

Duning 2015, no share options were granted to non-executive directors (2014 £11,000) Share-based payment charge recognised
1 relation 1o the executive directors was £1,118,000 (2014 £572,000) No share options were exercised by the directors of the

Group during 2015

Ptease refer to the Directors’ remuneration report for further details
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS continued

Compensation of key management personnel

The Group made payments to key management personnel, defined as the key executive partners of the business, for services provided
o the Group as follows

2015 2004

£'000 £000

l'otal salary and other benefits 766 755
IFRS 2 share-based payment charge 1118 583
Short-term employment benefits 1,884 1,338

Al key management personnel were also directors of the company in the year and, therefore, their remuneration has also
been disclosed within aggregate emoluments of the previous section

9 FINANCE COSTS

2015 2014
£'000 £ 000
Finance lease interest 745 895
Qther bank charges 48 16
793 91

10 FINANCE INCOME
2015 2014
£'000 £'000
Bank interest recevable 5 118
Other interest income - 63

5 181
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11 LOSS PER SHARE

Bosic loss per ordinary share s calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares inissue duning the year Difuted loss per ordinary share s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding Lo assume the conversion of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares Share warrants and options in1ssue represent the

only categary of potentially dilutive ordinary shares for the Group

The following table sets out the computation for basic and diluted net loss per share for the year

2015 2014
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year attuibutable to owners of the parent (£000's) {11,656) (8,055)
Woeighted average number of ordinary shares inissue {number) 247,797188 186,911,084
Basic and dituted loss per ordinary share {pence) (47) {4 3)
There is no difference in the weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share,
as the effect of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding 1s anti-dilutive
12 TAXATION
1 Anatysis of income tax charge In year
2015 2014
£000 £'000
Current tax
UK corporation tax on profit - -
Deferred tax
_Onginating and reversal of tming differences - -
Income tax charge on loss for the year - -
i Factors affecling Lhe curtent tax charge for the year
Although the parent company 1s registered in Jersey, it s resident in the UK for tax purposes and 15 subject to UK corporation tax
The tax assessed on the Group's loss before taxation differs from the average standard rate of UK corporation tax of 20 25%
(2014 215%) The differences are explained below
2015 2014
£000 £000
Loss before taxauion (11,6586) {20,155)
Loss before taxation multipbed by the average standard
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20 25% (2014 215%) {2,360) (4,333)
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 449 1,407
Temporary differences for which no deferred tax recognised 456 175
Tax losses foi which no deferred tax recogrused 1,463 3,862
_Effect of Jersey tax at 0% 1 (1,111)

Total income tax charge for the year -
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12 TAXATION continued

m Factors that may affect future tax charges

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK changed from 21% to 20% {and was unified with the small companies rate)
with effect from 1 Apnl 2015

tegislation was enacted duning 2015 to reduce further the rate of corporation tax The rate will reduce to 19% from 1 Apnil 2017,
and to 18% from 1 Apnl 2020

As these rate changes had been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, their effects have been included in these
financial statements

QOn 16 March 2016, a further rate change was announced in the 2016 Budget Statement The rate of corporation tax will be
reduced from 18% to 17% from T April 2020 As this rate change had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, (ts effects have not been included in these financial statements The proposed rate change may affect future tax charpes
In addition, the utiisation of any tax losses and temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recogmsed may
also affect future tax charges

v Deferred tax
UK deferred tax has been calculated at the rates of tax at which assets/(liabilities) are expected to reverse, based on enacted tax rates
Deferred tax has been calculated at a rate of 18% (2074 20%) The net deferred tax recognised in the balance sheet 15 as follows

2015 2014

£'000 £ 000

At January - -

Recogmsed during the year - -

At 31 December - -
The deferred tax asset not recognised in the financial statements s as follows

2015 2015 2014 2014

Tax value Gross Tax value Gross

£'000 £000 £000 £'000

Tax losses carnied forward 27,662 153,677 29,480 147,400

Deductible temporary differences 2,876 15,977 4,129 20,645

30,538 169,654 33,609 168,045

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the financial statements due to the uncertainty over the avallability of suitable future
taxable profits aganst which the asset will reverse
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

)

Other
Cormpuler ntangible
Goodwill software assets Total
£ 000 £000 £'000 £ 000
Cost
AL 1 January 2014 8,183 1,801 166 10,150
Additions - 12 - 12
As at 1January 2015 8,183 1,913 166 10,262
_&igltl_ons__ . - 51 - 51
As at 31 December 2015 8,183 1,964 166 16,313
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At January 2014 3,212 890 66 4,68
Amortisation charge for the year - 432 19 451
[Impairment charge for the year - - 81 81
As at 1january 2015 3,212 1322 166 4,700
_Amortisation charge for the year - 273 - 273
As at 31 December 2015 3,212 1,595 166 4,973
Net book amount
At 31 December 2015 4,971 369 - 5,340
At 31 December 2014 4,971 591 - 5,562
AL 1 January 2014 4,971 911 100 5,882

The amorusation charge for the year 15 included within the iIncome statement within adminmstrative expenses before exceptional items
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

1 Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination s allocated to the cash-generating umts ('CGUs") that are expected to benefit from that
business combination CGUs are independent sources of income streams and represent the lowest level wathin the Group at which the
associated goodwill 15 montored for management purposes The carrying amount of goodwall has been allocated to the foltowing CGU

2015 2014
F'000 £'000
Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre 4,971 4,971

Goodwill 15 subject to impairment testing annually, or maore frequently where there are indications that the goodwill may be impaired
The recoverable amounts of all CGUs are determined based on value-in-use calculations, using pre-tax cash flow projections based on
management approved financiat forecasts for the period of the contract The key assumptions for these forecasts are those relating to
1evenue growth and decline, based on past experience and expectatians of future changes in relevant CGUs The Group prepares cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial plans approved by management for the period of the contract Cash flows are
discounted back to present value using a nsk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate of 109%, which represents an internally computed rate,
based on gearing levels and loan interest rates

The financial plans reflect past experience and mcorporate assumptions in terms of volumes and tanff changes Volume increase 1s
reasonably assumed to be 5%, and tanff inflation at 12% for 2016, and assumed flat thereafter The value in use calculations are
sensitive to changes in the key assumptions used, however, management's sensitivity anatysis shows that a reasonable change in
key assumiptions will not cause an rmpairment in the goodwall retated to Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre

u Computer softwale
Computer software reprasents third-party costs incurred in retation to the Group's IT systems

m Othet intang ble assets

Other intangible assets include the development of ‘*know-how' for a new programme to build hospitals wathin a shortened time
frame This 15 achreved by ublising standard build components which have been manufactured off-site at a reduced cost, and reducing
the amount of build time on-site During 2014, this was fully impaired

Assets held under finance lease have the following net book amounts

2015 2014
£000 £000
_Computer sofiware 261 382

261 382
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Freehold and fittings
leasehold Assels under Leasehold Ciimical and office
land consiruchion improvements equipment equipment Tetal
£000 £'000 F'000 £000D £000 £000
Cost
Al 1 January 2074 11,842 3,307 3,216 8,846 15,934 43145
Additions - 69 137 1,558 433 2197
_Disposals - - - (42) - (42)
AL T January 2015 11,842 3,376 3,353 10,362 16,367 45,300
Additions - 1128 16 1.231 365 2,840
Disposals - - - (7 (2) (9)
At 31 December 2015 11,842 4,504 3,469 11,586 16,730 48,131
Accumulated depreciation and impawrment
At 1january 2014 2,385 165 2,405 2,734 14,781 22,470
Depreciation charge lor the year 35 - 104 1,826 486 2,451
Impanment charge for the year - 2,907 - - - 2,907
_Disposals - - - (26) - (26}
At 1 January 2015 2,420 3,072 2,509 4,534 15,267 27,802
Depreciation charge for the year 35 ~ 13 2189 442 2,779
Impairment charge for the year - - - - - -
_Dispasals - - - - ~ -
At 31 December 2015 2,455 3,072 2,622 6,723 15,709 30,581
Net book amount
At 37 December 2015 9,387 1,432 847 4,863 1,021 17,550
At 31 December 2014 9,422 304 844 5,828 1100 17,498
AL T January 2014 9,457 3,142 81 6,112 1153 20,675

The depreciation charge for the year is included in the income statement within admirustrative expenses before exceptional items {note 5)

Freehold and {easehold land were valued at 31 December 2012 by a third-party valuer Managernent believes these to be appropnate on the
basis that there have not been decreases in land vatues in the areas since
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continucd
Assets held under finance leases have the following net book amounts

2015 2014
£000 £000
Leasehold land 4,237 4,272
Clinical equipment 3,994 4,686
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 395 469
8,626 9,427
The additions during the year compnse fease agreements with Shawbrook Bank Limited and Close Leasing
Limited to finance the purchase of clirical equipment at the CircleReading and CircleNottingham hospitals
Freehold and leasehold land can be split into the following net book amounts
2015 2014
£'000 £000
Frechold 5150 5150
I easchold 4237 4,272
9,387 9,422
15 PROVISION FOR JOINT VENTURE DEFICIT
2015 2014
£000 £ 000
At 1 January - (4,685)
_Gamon wind-up of actvities in HP Bath _ - 4,685
At 31 December - -
Group's share of results of joint venture (38 7%)
Revenue - 716
Operating expenses - (21
_Finance costs - {825)
Group's share of loss after tax of jont venture - (130}

During 2014, the activities of HP Bath were wound up, therefore, there 1s no longer a provision for a joint venture deficit
as at 31 December 2015
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16 INVENTORIES

AL S TATIEMENTS

2015 2014
£'000 £000
Consumables 1,876 1,806
At 31 Decernber 2015, an amount of £nil (2014 nil} has been provided aganst the gross cost of inventories
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense In the year s £14,051,000 (2014 £13,096,000)
i7 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current
2015 2014 2015 2014
£000 £'000 E'000 £000
Tiade recewvables 101M 10,906 - -
Less aliowance for impairment of tiade recewvables (409) {187) - -
Net trade receivables 9,702 10,7119 - -
Prepayments and acciued income 4,335 4,843 2,500 2,500
Other receivables 655 1708 - -
Amounts owed by Jjoint venture - 13 - -
14,692 16,683 2,500 2,500
The directors consider the carrymg amount of trade and other recevables to approximate to their far value Long-term receivables
are discounted where the time value of money 15 considered to be material using a risk-adjusted post-tax discount rate of 10%
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows
2015 2014
£'000 £000
At 1January 187 260
Increase/(decrease} in the year 222 (73)
At 31 December 409 187
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued
AL 31 Decermnben, the agemng analysis of trade 1eceivables was as follows

2015 2014
£000 £'000
Nol past due 5,536 3,660
Past due 0-30 days, but not impaired 1,052 4,493
Past due 31-60 days, bul notl impaired 960 748
Past due by more than 60 days, bul not imparred 2153 1,818
9,702 10,719
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing, and credit terms are generally 30 days The above receivables are not impaired
because management believes they are fully recoverable
18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2015 2014
£'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents 14,998 24,456
The directors consider the carrying emount of cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair value There 1s no unrestricted
cash in 2015 and 2014
12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Current Non current
2015 2014 2015 2014
Note £000 £'000 £000 £000
Trade payables 6,840 6,666 - -
Detferred income 847 787 - -
Accruals 10,969 12,319 1,979 2,074
Social security and other taxalien 1,246 1,319 - -
_Amounts owed to other related parties 0 - 165 - -
19,902 21,256 1,979 2,074

Trade payables, accruals and amounts owed to other related parties are unsecured and interest free

The directors consider the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate to their fair value
Long-term payables have been discounted where the time value of maney 1s considered to be matenal
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20 LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Current Non current
2015 2074 2015 2014
£000 £'000 £ 000 £ Q00
Secured finance leases 2,332 1,922 7,282 8,869
2,332 1,922 7,282 8,869

Finance leases

Finance leases comgrise vanous lease agreements with Close Leasing Lumited, Shawbrook Bank Limited and GE, to finance the purchase
of IT assets, fixtures, hittings and furniture, and medical equipment, for the commissioning of CircleReading hospital and the 125-year
lease for land i Burmingham entered inta with Pebble Mill Investments Liruted {'Pebble Mill') n November 2011 Dunng 2015, CircleReading
and CrrcleBath signed new finance leases with Shawbrook Bank Limited to purchase medical equipment and furmiture respectively

CircleMottingham also signed twe new finance leases for medical equipment with GE

2018 2014
£'000 £000
Gross finance lease Liabilities — minimum lease payments
Falling due
- Mo later than one year 2,987 2,M
- Later than one year and no later than five years 4,093 5,837
- Later than five years 9323 9,691
16,403 18,239
Future finance charges on finance leases (6,789} (7.448)
9,614 10,791
The bieakdown of the present value of finance leases
Falling due
~ No later than one year 2,332 1,922
- Later than one year and no later than five years 2,697 4,028
— Later than five years 4,585 4,841
9,614 10,791
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20 LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS continued

The Group signed a finance lease commitment with GE on 11 June 2012 for a total facility of £5,000,000 to lease medical equipment over a
five-year period On 13 July 2012, the Group signed a finance lease commitment with Close Leasing Limited for a total facility of £2,000,000
to lease IT equipment and fixtures, fittings and furniture over a five-year penod

Injune 2015, CircleBath signed a finance lease commitment for a facility of £21,000 over a three-year pertod tn July 2015, CircleReading signed
a new finance lease with Shawbrook Bank Limited for a facility of £45,000 over a five-year period In addition, in Novemnber, the Group signed
finance lease commutments with GE for a total facility of £800,000 to lease medical equipment at CircleNottingham until June 2018

The Pebble Mill site lease habiliies are unsecured, but are guaranteed by Circle Holdings ple The Group can termmate the lease on 1 August
2046 or 1 August 2071, by giving at least six months’ written notice to the landlord In addition, the Group has two opportunities to reduce the
annual rent the first buy-down right i1s within a period of five years from the date of the lease, and the second buy-down night 1s within a period
of six months prior to the first lease break date in 2046 Both instances require payment of a premium calculated in accordance with a formula
set out i the lease and adjusted using the RPl index There are no contingent rents The value of the finance lease creditor is £4,895,000 (2014
£4,946,000}

Maturity profile
Under the ternis of the loans, the amounts fall due as follows

Belween Belween Greater

Less than one to lwo iwo to three than four
one yuar years years years Total
2015 F'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £0Q00
Finance leases 2,332 2,031 664 4,587 9,614
2,332 2,031 664 4,587 9,614

Between Setween Greater

Less than one to two two to three than four
one year yuars years yeors Total
2014 £ 000 E'000 £000 £000 £000
Finance leases 1,922 2,011 1,967 4,891 10,791

1,922 2,01 1,967 4,891 19,791




72 CIRCLE HOLDINGS PLC

PO SO E CONSOUDNALTD
AL ST EMIEINTES
Continued

21 PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

2015 2014
£ 000 £000
Curent - -
Non-current ... 50 50
50 50

Under

declared
Dilapidations VAT Total
E'000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 2014 159 496 655
Released to the iIncome statement - (226) (226)
_Utilised during the year (109) {270) (379)
At 1 January 2015 50 - 50
Released Lo the income statement - - -
Utilised during the year - - -
At 31 December 2015 50 - 50

Dilaptdations

This provision relates to the expected cost of returning various leased properties to thewr former state when the Group exits the leases
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22 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND OTHER RESERVES

Authonised
2015 2014
£000 £000
Ordinary shares of £0 02 each 6,500 6,500
Convertible shares {18 months) of £0 02 each 250 250
Conweruible shares {36 months) of £0 02 each 250 250
7,000 7.000
Mumber Nurnber
Ordinary shares of £0 02 each 325,000,000 325,000,000
Convertible shares (18 months) of £0 02 each 12,500,000 12,500,000
_Convertible shares (36 months) of £0 02 each 15,500,000 12,500,000
350,000,000 350,000,000
Allotted and fuily paid up
Share Share Treasury Other
Par Share, capital premipm shares reserves Total
value Nurnber £000 E 000 £ 000 £'000 £ 000
Ordinary shares
At 1 January 2014 130,7857122 2,616 183,145 - 22,182 217943
Fundraise - 9 fanuary 2014
(net of costs) too2 55,000,000 1,100 25,120 - - 26,220
Shares 1ssued - 16 June 2014
(net of costs) £0 02 62,769 1 - - - 1
Project Reset — ordinary shares
1ssued — 8 December 2014
(net of costs) (002 38,855,367 777 7,560 (9,587) - {1,250)
Pioject Reset - convertible shares
1ssued - 8 December 2014
_[net of costs) £002 23,093,930 462 10,970 - - 11,432
At 31 December 2014 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 (9.587) 22,182 254,346
At 31 December 2015 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 (9.587) 22,182 254,346
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22 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND OTHER RESERVES continued
The following Lable details the movement in share capital (erdinary and convertible) in the year ending 31 December 2015
by mayor shareholder

At Additional At

1]anuary purchases/ 31 Ducember

2015 (sales) 2015

Number Number Number

Lunsdowne Partners 54,167,008 - 54,167,008
Invesco Perpetual 53,268,920 (35,000,000) 18,268,920
Odey Asset Management 27,447,406  (27,447,406) -
Toscafund - 62,397,297 62,397,297
Balderton Capital 16,756,534 - 16,756,534
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685 - 9,252,685
BlackRock 5,781,380 (157110) 5,624,270
Palar Capital 1,000,000 460,000 1,400,000
Circle Partnershup Benefit Trust 61,949,297 - 61,949,297
Henderson 5200,000 (5,200,000) -
Other 12,973,858 5,007,219 17,981,177
247,797,188 - 247797188

The following Lable details the movement in ordinary share capital i the year ending 31 December 2014 by major shareholder

At 9 [anuary 16 June 8 December Addstional At

1 January 2014 2074 2074 purchases/ 31 Dacember

2014 {at £0 02 each) (at £0 02 each) {at FO 02 each} {sales) 2014

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Lansdowne Partners 37,967,008 16,200,000 - - - 54,167,008
Invesco Perpetual 30,368,920 22,900,000 - - - 53,268,920
Odey Assct Management 27,542,881 - - - (95,475} 27,447,406
Balderton Capital 12,756,534 4,000,000 - - - 16,756,534
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685 - - - - 9,252,685
BlackRock 6,997,555 - - - (1,216,375) 5,781,380
Polar Capital 1,000,000 400,000 - - {400,000) 1,000,000
Circle Partnership Benefit Trust - - - 61,949,297 - 61,949,257
Henderson - 5,200,000 - - - 5,200,000
Numis - 1,150,000 - - {1350,000) -
Singers - 150,000 - - (150,000) -
Broker Option - 5,000,000 - - {5,000,000) -
Ether _ 4,899,539 - 62,769 - 8,011,650 12,973,958

130,785,122 55,000,000 62,769 61,949,297 - 247797388
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23 WARRANTS

The Group 1ssues warrants which give the holders the night to purchase shares for a specific price at a future date The warrants are
treated either as equity instruments and recorded in the warrant reserve, or as financial liabilities and recorded in hiabilities, depending
on certain cntena, as outlined in the Group’s accounting policies There are no remaining warrants issued as financial liabilities

Warrants treated as equity instruments
Movements in the warrant reserve during the year are as follows

2015 2014
£000 £'000
AL 1 January and at 31 December 22703 22,703

The following table details all share warrants issued by the Group which are recognised in equity, none of which have been exercised to date

Warrant reserve

Exercise Original Revised TJanuaj:yt Share based N DccembAe:
price warTants Modified warranls 2015 charges 2015
Nole £ Nurnber Mumber Number £'000 £'000 £ Q00
Beneficiary
Warrants 1ssued in 2008
Balderion Capital b £152 523,460 - 523,460 41M - 4M
Lansdowne Partners b 152 99,630 - 99,630 783 - 783
JCAM £10 31 238,930 - 238,930 1,616 - 1,616
Warrants issued in 2009
Balderton Capilal b £152 172,355 - 172,355 675 - 675
Lansdowne Partners b £152 172,355 - 172,355 479 - 479
BlueCrest Capitat
Management b £152 75,510 - 75,510 296 - 296
Warrants modified 1n 2011
Health Trust (Jersey) ab £152 - 2,340,765 2,340,765 14,743 - 14,743
1,282,240 2,340,765 3,623,005 22,703 - 22,703

a  The 2 340,765 share warrants vested over a 24-month penod from May 2011 untll May 2013, and were exercisable from the date they
vest {1/24 every month from May 2011} and do not have any expiry date None of the warrants were exercised during 2015 (2074 nil}

b In May 2011, after the initial public offering ("IPQ’}, the existing share warrants, which consisted of warrants 1ssued in 2008 and 2009
to Health Trust {Jersey} and Health Trust {Jersey) option pool, were modified, adjusting both the exercise price and vesting conditions
Under the terms of the modification, the existing share warrants were replaced with warrants 1ssued exclusively 1o Health Trust {Jersey),
and the exercise price was set to the IPO price of £1 52 per new ordinary share 1ssued The modified share warrants do not have any
expiry date or any conditions attached A farr value assessment was completed, based on the value of the existing warrants prior to IPO,
and the fair value of the modified warrants determined using Black-Scholes on a diluted pricing basis The incremental fair value of the
modification was recogrised on a straight-line basis over a 24 month period from May 2011 until May 2013, in line with the revised
vesting timetable (1/24 every month from May 2011)
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24 SHARE-BASED CHARGES

Shares, shares options and share warrants are issued to directors, employees, clinicians and external investors who contribute to the
success and growth i vatue of the Group Theissuance of these warrants and shares, including the 1ssue of shares to scheme participants
and employees, qualifies as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, and falts within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
The impact on the mcome statement in respect of share-based charges is as follows Note there 15 no charge associated with the transaction
where the employees subsciibe for the shares at full market value

2015 2014
Nale Type £'000 £'000

Issued as part of Project Reset a Shares - 1,105
Awarded to non-execulive directors b Shares - 14
Share options issued to Circle employees and partners c Share options 2,693 572
2,693 1,691

a

Project Reset

Shares were ssued in 2014 as part of Project Reset Of the total number of Circle Partnership Limited (‘CPL’) shares which were
acquired by the Group, 5,118,739 were partally vested The unvested portion of these shares in CPL were accelerated as part of
Project Reset, and exchanged for 2,231,770 Circle Holdings plc convertible shares at £0 02 each A share-based charge of £1,105,000
was recognised to record the mcremental fair value of shares given to members of the CPL share scheme The charge was calculated,
based on the share price an 4 December 2014, the date of Project Reset completion

Nen-executive directors

The Group operated an equity-scttled, shaie-based compensation plan for its non-executive directors The entity receives services
from these drrectors as consideration for shares in the Group The fair value of the services receved in exchange for the grant of the
awards 1s recoprused as an expense The total amount to be expensed 15 determined by reference to the fair vaiue of the awards granted
MNo share oplions were granted to the non-executive directors during 2015

Share options 1ssued to Cucle employees and partners

During 2015, a number of share option awards were pranted te Circle employees and Circle partners There are two main share option
schemes PIP and MIP The MIP scheme has market conditions attached In accordance with the terms of the MIP, the granted options
will vest, based on a 1equired holding period and certawn share price triggers The earliest exercise date 1s 1 December 2016

Included within exceptional items is an IFRS 2 share-based payment charge for share options granted to the Chief Financial Officer
in December 2074, and vested in December 2015

2015 2014
£'000 £000

Share-based charges reserve
AL 1 January 1,842 151
_Share-based charges 2,693 1,691

At 31 December 4,535 1,842
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24 SHARE-BASED CHARGES contimued
The parameters on which the fair values of the various share option schemes were calculated are detailed below
The fair value of a share option disclosed below represents the value of the share option as determined by IFRS 2,
minus the strike price payable by the holder of the option upon exercise
Shate options granted Lo Chief Fnangial Officer
Stack price at grant date (1 December 2014) £050
kxercise price £002
Expected volatibily 50%
Risk-free interest rate 5%
_Vesting penod 1 year
Farrvaluc of share option £050
2013 and 2014 share oplion awards — £0 02
Stock price at grant date (30 Apnit 2015) £0 49
_bxercise price £002
_Expected volatlity 791%
Risk-frec interest rate 0 447%
Vesting penod 8 months
Fair value of share option £0 47
2013 and 2011 share aplion awards — 0 50
Stock price at grant date {30 April 2015}) £049
_Exercise price £050
_Expected volatility 791%
Risk-ree interest rate 0 447%
Vesting perod 8 months
Foir value of share cption £012
2014 share oplion awards — £0 02
Stock price at grant date (25 September 2015) £038
_Fxercise price L £002
_Expected volatility 791%
_Risk-free interest rale 0620%
_Vesting period 2 years
Fair value of share option £0 36
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24 SHARE-BASED CHARGES « ontinuctd

2014 share option awards - £0 50

Stock price at grant date (25 September 2015) £038
Exercseprice £050
_Ixpected volatibty 791%
Risk-free interest rate 0620%
Vesting peniod A 2 years
Fair value of share optian £013

MIP {wih markel conditions attached) - £0 02
Stock price at grant date (23 June 2015) £0 48
Exeraseprice £002
_Expected volatilty 791%
Risk-free interest rate 072%
Vesting penod 2 years
Fair value of share oplion £0 39

MIP {wsth market conditions attached) - LO 50
Stock price at grant date {23 June 2015} £0 48
£xeiaise price £0 50
I xpected volatility 791%
Risk-free interest rate 072%
Vesting penod 2 years
£023

Fair value of share opuion

25 PENSION COMMITMENTS

The Group participates in two personal defined contrnibution pension schemes for its employees The assets of the schemes are held
separaltely from those of the Group i independently admimistered funds The contributions by the Group for the year were £1,452,000
(2014 £1,492,000) As at 31 December 2015, outstanding contnbutions totalled £127,000 (2014 £140,000)
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26 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group has entered inte vanious non-cancellable operating leases of equipment, land and buildings with varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewal nghts The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

flant and machery Land and bulldings
2015 2014 2015 2014
£'000 £'00e £000 £'000
No later than one year 547 730 10,283 9,985
Later than one year and no later than five years 724 1,272 37,327 37,995
Later than five years - - 142,964 151,493
1,271 2,002 190,574 199,473
27 NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2015 2014
Nate £'000 E'000
Loss before taxation {11,656) (20155)
Provision for joint venture deficit - 130
Fxceptional finance items - 625
Finance costs 793 amn
Finance income (5) (181)
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 273 451
Deprecialion of property, plant and equipment 14 2,779 2,451
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets 9 16
lmpairment of property, plant and equipment " - 2,967
impairment of intangible assets 13 - 81
Share-based charges 24 2,693 1,691
Gain on the wind-up of joint venture activities - (4.750)
Provision for VAT 2 - (226}

Movements in working capital
- Increase N inventories (70) (167}
- Increase in trade and other recevables 1,990 {1,159)
- {Increase)/decrease in trade and other payables (1,448) 9,387
- Decrease in provisions - (379)
Net cash outflow from operating activities (4,642) (8,361}
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2015 204
£000 £'000
{Decrease)/increase in unrestricted cash in the year {9,498) 15,899
{Deciease) n restnicted cash n the year - {3.800)
Repayment of finance lease 2,019 1,660
Movement in net debt from cash flow (7,479) 13,759
QOther non-cash movements (842) (922)
Movement in net debt (8,321) 12,837
Net debt at 1 January 13,705 868
Net debt at 31 December 5,384 13,705
Other At
At nen cash 31 December
1 )arary Cashflow  Reclassifications changes 2015
200 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Liquid resources
Unresincled cash 24,496 (9.498) - - 14,998
Debt due within one year
Finance leases (1,922) 2,019 (2152) (277) (2.332)
Debt due after one year
Finance leases (8.,869) - 2,152 (565} {7.282)
Net debt 13,705 (7.479) - (842) 5,384
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28 RECONCILIATION AND ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT <ontinucd

Other At

At non cash 31 December

1 January Coshilow  Reclassifications changes 2014

2014 £'000 £ 000 £000 £'000 £000

Liquid resources
Unrestricted cash 8,597 15,899 - - 24,496
Restricted cash 3,800 {3,800) - - -
Debt due within one year
Finance leases (1,547) 1,660 {1,801} (234) {1,922)
Debt due after one year

_Finance leases {9.982) - 1,801 (688) (8,869)

Net debt 868 13,759 - (922) 13,705

29 FINANCIAL RIS MANAGEMENT

1 Fiancial nisk facters

The Group’s operations expose It to a variety of financial nsks that include price nisk, credit nisk, lquidity risk and interest rate

risk The Group seeks to imit the adverse effects of these risks by monitoring levels of debt finance and the related finance costs,
and by matching the nisks of the financing with the risks and return profiles of the assets The risks are monitored by management
throughout the year via monthly reviews of operational performance, cash flows, levels of individual debt mstruments and overall
debt levels

Classes of iinancial instruments

The Group's financial instruments compnise financial assets such as cash, short-term deposits, trade and other recevables, and
financial Liabilities, such as bank loans, loan notes, and trade and other payables In addition, the Group was party to interest rate
swaps to manage the Group's interest rate risks ansing from the Group's sources of finance
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ¢ nntinued
The followang tables classiy the Group's financral instruments according to 1AS 39 Financial Instruments, Recognition and Measurement

Farr value
Loans and 1hrough profut Amortised
recevables and loss cost Total
Nate £'000 £'000 £'000 E COO
As at 31 December 2015
Financial assets
Trade and other recevables 17 10,357 - - 10,357
Cash and cash equivalents 18 14,998 - - 14,998
Total financial assets 25,355 - - 25,355
Frianaat labilities
Trade and other payables 19 - - (6.840) {6,840)
Finance tease brabilitres 20 - - (9.614) {9,614)
Total financaial Labilities - - (16,454) (16,454)
Fair value
Loans and through profit Amorused
recewvables and loss cost Total
Nate £'000 £ 000 £000 £ 000

As at 31 December 2014
Financial assets
Trade and other recevables 7 11,840 - - 11,840
Cash and cash equivalents 18 24,486 - - 24,496
Total financial assets 36,336 - - 36,336
Fmancial habilites
Trade and other payables 19 - - {6,831} (6.831)
Finance lease liabilities 20 - - (10,797) (10,791)
Total financial Liabilities - - (17,622} (17,622)

a  Market sk
Market nisk 1s the risk Lhat changes in market prices, such as mterest rates or other price risks, and will affect the ncome
from or the value of financial instruments The absective of market nsk management ts to manage and control market
sk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk

The Group 1s primarily impacted by interest rate nsk and other price risks which are outlined below
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29 FINANCIAL RIS MANAGEMENT continucd

7

Interest rate risk

Financial nstruments affected by interest rate risk mnclude short-term deposits The Group 1s pnmanly sensitive to changes in UK
mterest rates This affects future cash flows from short-term cash deposits held As at 31 December 2015, the Group, excluding the
jJaint venture, does not hold any long-term loans Previously, the Group has managed this risk, where significant, by holding long-term
loans and entering into nterest rate swaps in order to fix the interest payable on these These swaps have now all expired The Group
also manages the interest rate nsk through financing assets through finance leases which have fixed rates of interest, rather than
through loans

The following table summarnsas the fixed and variable rate loans

Interest

Variable Fireed free Totai
E'000 £000 £'000 £000
At 31 December 2015
Loans and other borrowings ~ 5,614 - 9,614
At 31 December 2014
toans and other borrowings - 10,79 - 10,791

2} Otherprice nisks

The Group has a number of long-term contracts contaning fixed indexation provisions The Group generally seeks to price
contracts at levels that take account of increasing prices As the volume of private patients 15 anticipated to Increase, the
Group will be Increasingly subject to pnicing changes from private insurance companies

The new Bedfordshire MSK contract operates under a capped revenue budget The underlying principle assumes that the service
can be run more efficiently, improving the patient experence and reducing operational costs Nevertheless, the Group bears
the risk of nising operational prices as the baseine revenue 15 fixed, subject to local demographic or service portfolio changes

b Credit risk

Credit risk 13 the nisk of financial 1oss to the Croup if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligatiens, and artses principally from the Group's recevables from customers and cash deposits, with therr maximurn exposure being
represented by their carrying amount

The Group has policies with customers that require upfront payment, where appropniate Credit control procedures are designed
to ensure that Invoiced revenue 15 collected accarding to agreed terms, that policies exist to limit exposure to any one party, and
ensure approved credit limuts are reviewed regularly These all help to eliminate significant concentrations of credit risk

Most revenues anse from insured patients’ business and the NHS Insured patients give rise to trade receivables which are mainly due
from large insurance institutions, who have high credit worthiness The remainder of revenues arise from individual self-pay patients

When utilising bank accounts and cash deposits, the Group transacts with counterparties whe have sound credit profiles Such
counterparties are primarily large, highly-rated financial institutions tn retation to finanoal iInstitutions, the Group allocates a

credit irmut based on external credit ratings The counterparty’s total outstanding transactions with the Group, including bank

accounts and cash deposits, must not exceed imits agreed by the Board of Directors
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMEMT continued

¢ Liquidity nisk
Liquidity risk 13 the nisk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due The Group's
approach to liquidity 1s te manage short and long-term borrowings to ensure that it will always have sufficient hquidity to meet
its lrabilibies when due, withoul incurring unacceptable losses or risk damaging the Group's reputation

This 1s achieved by robustly managing cash generation across its operations, by applying cash collection targets throughout the
Group, and by managing liguidity risk via long-term debt and equity funding from shareholders

The Group has received strong support from its shareholders, who have provided equity cash funding when necessary to fund the
Group's activities These funds have been utilised to support the business plans of the Group in accordance with the Group's financial
projections, which are updated on a regular basis

The tabte below analyses the Group’s non-derivative and dernvatwe financial habilities into retevant maturity groupings, based
on Lhe remaining perod at the balance sheet date to the contract matunty date The amounts included in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows

Between Between Between Between
Less than ane ta two to three to four to Over
one year two years three years four years five years five years
E'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 December 2015
Trade and other payables (6,840} - - - - -
Finance lease (2,987) (2,635) (696) (389) (374} {9,323)
Net outflows (9.827) (2,635) (696) (389) (374) {9,323)
At 31 December 2014
Trade and other payables (5,465) - - - - -
Finance leases {2.450) (2.450} (2,390) (2,033) (395) (10,059}
Net outflaws (7.915) {2,450) (2,390) (2,033) (395) (10,059)

Included in the previous tables are the cash flows in respect of the Birmingham lease There are various buy-down options
over the term of the lease, and management’s tntention has been reflected in the cash flows set out above

n Capital nsk management

The pnimary objective of the Group’s management of debt and equity Is to ensure the continued growth of the business, including
the hinancing of new hospitals, equipment, start-up costs, and Head Office overheads, in order to provide returns for the Group's
shareholders and other stakeholders The Group raises financing, when needed, through a combination of equity and debt

Objectives are set out at the beginning of each year, in ine with the imposed requirements and covenants of the shareholder agreements
Covenants on the CircleBath rental agreement with Medical Properties Trust are tested monthly No long-term debt exists elsewhere
n the Group
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Subsicdharies

Details of the mvestments in which the Group holds 20% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital and quasi-subsidianes

are as follows

Proportian of

Hame of company Holding Nature of business voting rights held Country of incorporation
_Circle International ple Ordinary shares Holding and management 100% United Kingdom
Health Properties Lirnited’ Ordinary shares Holding and management 100% Jersey

Circle Health Lirmited Qrdinary shares Holding and management 100% United Kingdom
Nations Healthcare Limited ___‘'Wordnary shares  Holding and management 100% United Kingdom
_CucleNotungham Limited 'C’ preferred shares  Holding and management N/A Umited Kingdom
CircleNottingham Limited Ordinary shares Medical practice services 100% United Kmgdom
Crrcle {(Welbeck) Limnted Ordinary shares Finance company 100% United Kingdom
_Circle (Welbeck) Limited Preference shares Finance company N/A United Kingdom
Cucle Hospital (Bath) Linited Ordinary shares Medical practice services 100% United Kingdom
Circle Hospital (Reading) Limited Ordinary shares Medical practice services 100% United Kingdorn
Circle Clinical Solutions Linuited QOrdinary shares Property development 100% United Kingdom
Circle Birmuingham Limited Ordinary shares Property developrent 100% United Kingdom
Health Properties Ordinary shares Property ownership 100% Jersey

(South Manchester) Limisted and devetopment

Circle Partnerstup Limited Ordinary shares Former employee

share ownership plan 100% British Virgin Islands

Tiading transactions

During the year, the Group entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other retated parties

Transactions entered into and trading balances outstanding are as follows

2015 2014

Amounts Amounts Amounis Ammounts

owaed by owed to owed by owed to

retated party related party relatled party related party

Nate £'000 E'000 £000 £'000

HP Bath a - - 13 -
Capita b - - - ("
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust c - - 4,836 (164)
- - 4,849 (165)

-

Jersey Financial Services Cammussion

**  Following the completion of Project Reset in 2014
the CPBT through which staff are awarded share
opuions in Circle became a major shareholder i

Circle Holdings plc CPL1s an histone entity from
Lhe pnor structure and we expecl 1t to be wound
up n 2016
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued
o Health Properties (Bath) Limited
HP Bath 1s a joint venture of the Group which owned the Bath hospital that was sold during 2014

As al 31 December 2015, an amount of nil was outstanding (2014 £13,000)

b Capita
Duning 2015, the Group was charged £85,000 (2014 £96,000) by Capita for fiduciary services provided to companies within
the Group duning the year 1he amount cutstanding ot 31 December 2015 was £nil (2014 £nil}

The Capita Group also provided IT data hosting services duning the year The Group was charged £514,000 (2014 £540,000)
for these services provided during the year The amount outstanding at 31 December 2015 was nil (2014 £1,750)

¢ Hmnchingbrocke Health Care NS Trust
During 2015, a settlement agreement relating to the termination of the franchise was agreed Thereafter, Hinchingbrooke
Heallh Care NHS Trust ccased Lo be a related party

Health Trust (Jersey)
Health Trust {Jersey) also holds 2,340,765 warrants in the Company (note 23)

following the completion of Project Reset on 4 December 2014, Health Trust {Jersey) shareholding in CPL was exchanged
for 2,309,402 convertible shares in Circle Holdings ple The previous agreement for Health Trust (Jersey) to own an amount
equal to an aggregate 10% of the 1ssued share capital of CPL has now extinguished

The following are related parties by virtue of their sigmificant shareholding Notes 22 and 23 provide further details

Number of
shares held Value of
{including Percentape warrants held
convertible shares) shareholding E
Balderton Capital 16,756,534 7% 4,786
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685 4% 296
Invesco Perpetuat 18,268,920 7% -
Lansdowne Partners 54,167,008 22% 1,262
Toscafund 62,397,297 25% -
Circle Partnership Benefit Trust 61,949,297 25% -

Other than the above and the equaty transactions detailed i notes 22 and 23, there have been no transactions with these related parties

31 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
In January 2016, marketing for the sale of the land held by Health Properties (South Manchester) Limited commenced
It has a carrying value of £5,000,000, and the directars believe the sales proceeds will support the carrying value




a ) | felt extremely well
% looked after and very
safe. The consultant and all
the nurses were fantastic.
Thank you so much.

INPATIENT CIRCLEBATH




88 CIRCLE HOIDINGS PLC

INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the members of Circle Holdings plc

Report on the Company's
financial statements

Qur opinion

inour opinton, Circle Holdings plc's
Company financiat statements (the
‘financial statements’)

+ gwve atiue and fair view ol the
state of the Company's affairs
as at 31 December 2015,

- have been properly prepared in
accordance with Urited Kingdom
accounting standards, and

+ have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Compamies
(Jersey) Law 1991

What we have audited
The financial statements, included
within the Annual Report, comprise

+ the Company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2015, and

+ the notes to the financial statements,
which include a summary of significant
accounting policies and other
explanatory Information

Certamn required disclosures have been
presented elsewhere in the Annual Report,
tather than in the notes 1o the financial
statements These are cross-referenced
from the financial statements and are
identified as audited

The financial reporting framework that
has been applied n the preparation of the
financial statements 1s United Kingdom
accountmg standards, comprising FRS
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework,

and applicable law

In applymng the financial reporting
framework, the directors have made

a number of subjective judgements,
for example, in respect of significant
accounting estimates In making such
estimates, they have made assumptions
and considered future events

Opinion on other matter

I our apinion, the iInformation given in the
Drrectors’repart for the finanaial year for
which the financial statements are prepared
Is consistent with the financ:al statements

Other matters on which

we are required to report

by exception

Accounting records and mformation
and explanations received

Under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991,
we are required to report to you if, in

Our opimon

+ we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our
audit, er

+ proper accounting records have not
been kept, or

+ proper returns adequate for our audit
have not been recerved from branches
not visited by us, or

- the financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting recards
and returns

We have no exceptions to report ansing
from this responsibility

Responsibilities for the
financial statements and

the audit

Our responsibilities and those

of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement
of directors’ responsibilities set out on page
41, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view

Our responsibility 1s to audit and express
an opimion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and ISAs
(UK and treland} Those standards require
us to comply with the Audituing Practices
Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opimons, has been
prepared for, and only for, the Company's
members as a body 1n accordance with
Article 113A of the Companves (Jersey) Law
1991 and for no other purpose We do not,
1n gwing these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to
any other person to whom this report 1s
shown or into whose hands it may come,
save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing

What an audit of financial
statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance
with ISAs (UK and Ireland) An audit
mvolves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures tn the financal
statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements
are free from matenal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error

This includes an assessment of

« whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the Company's
crcumstances, and have been
consistently applied and adequately
disctosed,

+ the reasonableness of significant

accounting estimates made by the

directors, and

the overall presentation of the

financial statements

We pnimarily focus our work n these areas
by assessing the directors’ judgements
against available evidence, forming our
own judgements, and evaluating the
disclosures tn the financial statements

We test and examine information, using
sampling and cther auditing techniques,
to the extent we consider necessary to
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw
conclusions We obtain audit evidence
threugh testing the effectiveness of
controls, substantive procedures, or

a combinatton of both




In addition, we read all the financial and
non-financial infermation in the Annual
Report to identify matenal inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements,
and to 1identify any information that is
apparently matenally mcorrect, based
on, or materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the course
of performing the audit If we become
aware of any apparent matenial
misstatements or Inconsistencies,

we censider the implications for

our report

Other matter

We have reported separately on
the Group financial statements
of Circle Holdings plc for the year
ended 31 December 2015

e

Simon OQ'Brien (Senior Statutory Audttor)
For and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and

Recognised Auditors

London

29 March 2016

€ Foster -+ Pariners




Q | was very impressed with the
efficient and professional staff,

who were also very friendly and made me
feel at ease The environment was very
clean, and | felt safe and well cared for
Thank you for making my experience as
stress free and comfortable as possible
DAY CASE PATIENT CIRCLENOTTINGHAM
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SALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Note £'000 £000
Non-current assets
Investments 5 - -
Current assets
Debtors 6 2,919 101,785
Cash at bank and in hand 8313 14,180
11,232 115,965
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 7 (3.217) (3.07%)
Net current assets 8,015 112,890
Total assets less current habilities 8,015 112,890
Net assets 8,015 112,890
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 8 4,956 4,956
Share premium 8 236,795 236,795
Other reserves 8 11,303 11,303
Warrant reserve 91 22,703 22,703
Share-based charges reserve 9.M 4,535 1.842
Treasury share reserve ¢ (9,587) (9,587)
Profit and loss account g {262,690) (155,122)
Total shareholders’ funds 10 8,015 112,890

The financial statements on pages 91 to 100 were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by

L LA

Steve Melton Paolo Pien
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financiat Officer

Ciicle Holdings plc
Repistered number 100016 (Jersey)
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared
for Circle Holdings ple (the ‘Company')
for the year ended 31 December 2015
The Company 1s the ultimate parent
entity of the Circle Holdings plc Group
(the *Group’} The financial statements
have been prepared 1n accordance with
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework
These financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention
and in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 and applicable accounting
standards in the United Kingdom

The following exemptions from the
requirements of IFRSs have been applied
in the preparation of these financiat
statements

+ Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52
of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

+ |AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
paragraph 10(d) of IAS 1 (statement
of cash flows)

+ The requirement In |1AS 24 Related
Party Disclosures to disclose related
party transactions entered into between
two or more members of a group

The principal accounting policies, which
have been applied consistently for both
years presented, are set out below

Accounting convention

These financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis in
accordance with the Comparues (Jersey)
Law 1991 and apphcable UK accounting
standards The Company has not prepared
a separate income statement and cash flow
statement, as 1t 15 not a reguirement under
Companies (Jersey) Law 1951

Gomng concern

‘The dwectors consider it to be appropriate
for the Company financial statements to
be prepared on a going concern bass,

based on the assumptions considered
n the Directors’ report on page 27

Investments

Investrments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures are valued at cost less provision
for impairment The carrying value of
fixed asset investments is reviewed for
impairment when events or changes

n circumnstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable

Deferred tax

Deferred tax s provided in full (without
discounting) based on current tax rates and
law, on timing differences that result in an
obligation at the balance sheet date to pay
mare tax, or a rght to pay less tax in the
future, except as otherwise required by
FRS 100

Warrants

Awarrant 15 an instrument Jssued by a
company, which gives the holder the right
to purchase shares in that company at a
specific price at a future date An equity
instrument Is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its labilities A warrant
15 treated as a financial hiabibity if

+ 1t15a non-dernivative and the entity 1s
obliged to deliver a vanable number
of the company’s own shares, or

- 1tis a dervative that will be settled
other than by a fixed amount of cash
ot other assets for a fixed number of
the company's own shares

Transaction costs are apportioned between
the lability and equity components of the
sharas, based on the allocation of proceeds
to the Liability and equity components

when the instruments are first recognised

Equity warrants

The proceeds on 1ssue of equity warrants
are included within shareholders’ equity,
nat of transaction costs The fair value of

the equity component 15 not remeasured
in subsequent years The far value of
warrants 1s credited to equity, with the
debit being charged to the profit and loss
account, or taken te non-current liabilities
where the warrants are linked to a loan

Equity warrants are valued using an
appropriate valuation methodology
an a diluted priang basis, based on
the relevant share price at the time
of 1ssue, or based on an assessment
of the market price at the time of 1ssue

Capital contributions

Share-based incentive schemes for
employees are operated by subsidiary
undertakings that are settled by equity
instruments in the Company The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees
15 measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted,
and is recognised over the vesting period,
which ends on the date on which relevant
employees become fully entitled to the
warrants in the Company

The grant of these warrants in the Company
to the employee of the subsidiary undertaking
15 treated as a capital contribution The fair
value 1s recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to the investment m subsidiary
undertaking, with a corresponding credit

to equity

2 PROFIT AND LOSS

The result for the year is a toss of
£107568,000 (2014 loss of £8,083,000)
During 2015, the Company provided for
a number of intercompany loans These
intercompany loans are to be wntten off
as in accordance with the objectives of
Progect Reset

3 OPERATING COSTS

The Company incurred £29,000 (2014
£28,000) in relation to UK statutory audit
fees for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Continued

4 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

During the year, £280,000 (2014 £274,000) was paid to directors of the Company, which includes amounts received in respect
of share-based charges Remuneration was paid to other directors via subsidiary compantes, total detatls of which are included in
the Directors’ remuneration report

5 INVESTMENTS

Company
2015 2014
Mote £000 £000
Cost
At 1January 178,629 166,763
Additsons — CPL - 13,066
Wind-up of investment in CH Subco Limited - {1.800)
Capital reduction on preference shares in Circle {(Welbeck) Limited (97,797}
Additions — capital contributions \H 2,208 —
At 31 December 82,446 178,029
Provision for impairment
At 1 January 178,029 166,763
Provision in the year 2,208 13,066
Capital reduction on preference shares in Circle {Welbeck) Limited (97.791)
‘Wind-up of nvestment in CH Subco Limited - (1.800)
At 31 December 82,446 178,029

Net book amount at 31 December - -

The directors consider that the value of the Company's fixed asset investments, which are bisted below, 1s supperted by thesr
underlying assets

Proportion of

Name of cornpany Haolding Nature of business voting nghts held Country of incorporation
Circle International plc Ordinary shares Holding and management 100% United Kingdom
Health Properties Limited Qrdinary shares Holding and management 100% Jersey
Circle (Welbeck) Limited Preference shares Finance company N/A United Kingdom
Circle Partnership Limited™ Ordinary shares Former employee

share ownership plan 100% British Virgin Islands

Jersey Financial Scrvices Commussion

**  Followng the completion of Project Reset 1n 2014
the CPBT through which stalf are awarded share
opliens w Circle, became a major shareholder in
Circle Holdings ple €PLis an historic entity frem
the pnor structure, and we expect it to be wound
up i1 2016
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6 DEBTORS
2015 2014
£000 £'000
Prepayments and accrued income 20 35
Other debtors Lk 59
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 2,888 101,691
2,919 101,785

Amounts owed by Group undertakengs are a combination of interest-bearing and interest-free amounts, unsecured and recevable
on demand

7 CREDITORS —~AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2015 2014
£'000 £'060
Trade creditors 59 133
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 2,639 2,636
Accruals and deferred income 519 306
3,217 3,075
Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand
8 CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL
Authornised
2015 2014
£'000 £'000
Ordinary shares of £0 02 each 6,500 6,500
Convertible shares (18 months) of £0 02 each 250 250
Convertible shares (36 months) of £0 02 each 2590 250
7,000 7,000
2015 2014
Number Mumber
Ordinary shares of £0 02 each 325,000,000 325,000,000
Convertible shares (18 months) of £0 02 each 12,500,000 12,500,000
Conve tible shares (36 months) of £0 02 each 12,500,000 12,500,000

350,000,000 350,000,000
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8 CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL continued
Allotted and fully paid up

Called-up Share Other
Shares share capital premium reserves Total
Number £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Ordmany shares
At 1 January 2014 130,785,022 2,616 193,145 11,303 207,064
Iundraise — 9 January 2014 (net of costs) (002 55,000,600 1700 25120 - 26,220
Shares 1ssued ~ 16 June 2014 (net of costs) £ 02 62,769 1 - - 1
Project Resel — ordinary shares i1ssued —
8 December 2014 [net of costs) foo? 38,855,367 777 7.560 - 8,338
Project Reset — convertible shares 1ssued -
8 Decernber 2014 (net of costs) o0z 23,093,930 462 10,970 - -
At 31 December 2014 247,757,188 4,956 236,795 11,303 241,623
At 31 December 2015 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 11,303 241,623
9 RESERVES
Treasury Share-based Profit
Share Wartant Other share charges and loss
premum reserve reserves reserve resarve aceount
£'000 £000 £ 000 £000 £'000 £'000
At 1)anuary 2015 236,795 22,703 11,303 (9,587) 1,842 (155,122)
Loss for the financiat year - - - - - (107,568}
tssue of shares options - - - - 2,693 -
At 31 December 2015 236,795 22,703 11,303 (9,587) 4,535 (262,690}

During 2015, £2,693,000 was the IFRS 2 share-based payment charge for share options 1ssued to Circle employees and partners
This charge has been passed onto the subsidiary company in which the services are being provided, namely Circle Health Limited,
by way of capital contnibution




ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2015

-4

10 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

2015 2014
Note £000 £000
Loss for the financal year {107,568) (8,083)
Awards of shares to non-executive directors 12 - 14
Issue of share options 12 2,693 38,080
Net addition to sharcholders’ funds {104,875) 30,011
_Opening shargholders’ funds 112,830 82,879
Closing shareholders’ funds 8,015 112,890
11 WARRANTS
The Company issues warrants which give the holders the right to purchase shares for a specific price at a future date The warrants are
treated either as equity instruments and recorded in the warrant reserve, or as financial liabiities and recorded in Liabilities, depending
on certam cnterta, as outlined in the Company's accounting policies There are no remaining warrants 1ssued as financial habilities
Warranls treated as equity instruments
Movemnents in Lhe warrant reserve duning the year are as follows
2015 2014
£'000 £'000
22,703 22,703

At 1 January
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11 WARRANTS  ontinued
The following table details all share warrants 1ssued by the Company which are recogrused in equity, none of which have been
exercised to date

Oniginal Warrant reserve
warranis,
Revised restated for At Al
exelcise frve-for-one Revised 1 January Share-based 31 December
price split Modified warrants 2015 charges 2015
Note £ Number Mumber Number £000 £'000 £000
Beneficlary
Warrants 1ssued in 2008
Balderton Camtal b £152 523,460 - 523,460 41N - 41N
| ansdowne Partners b £152 99,630 - 99,630 783 - 783
JCAM £10 31 238,930 - 238,930 1,616 - 1,616
Warrants issued m 2009
Batderton Capital b £152 172,355 - 172,355 675 - 675
Lansdowne Partners b £152 172,355 - 172,355 479 - 479
BlueCrest Capital
Management b £152 75,510 - 75,510 296 - 296
Warrants modified in 2011
Health Trust (Jersey) a £152 - 2,340,765 2,340,765 14,743 - 14,743
1,282,240 2,340,765 3,623,005 22,703 - 22,703

a The cancellation of the warrants 1ssued to Health Trust (Jersey) and Health Trust (jersey) option pool, and reissue of warrants
to Health Trust (Jersey) are detailed in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements

b InMay 201, after the {PO, the existing share warrants, which consisted of warrants issued in 2008 and 2009 to Health Trust
(Jersey) and Health Trust (Jersey) option pool, were modified, adjusting bath the exercise price and vesting conditions Under the
terms of the modification, the existing share warrants were replaced with warrants issued exclusively to Health Trust (Jersey), and
the exercise price was set to the IPO price of £1 52 per new ordinary share 1ssued The modified share warrants do not have any expiry
date or any conditions attached A fair value assessmant was completed, based on the value of the existing warrants prior to IPO,
and the fair value of the modified warrants determined using Black-Scholes on a diluted pricing basis, using the parameters outlined
on the next page The incremental farr value of the madification was recognised on a straight-line basis over a 24-month peniod from
May 2011 until May 2013, 1n line with the revised vesting timetable (1/24 every month from May 2011)
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12 CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Shares and share warrants are issued to employees, clinicians and external Investors, who contribute 1o the success and growth in value
of the Group The sssuance of these warrants and shares, including the 1ssue of shares to scheme participants and employees, qualifies as
equity-settled share-based payment transactions, and falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment The impact on the income
statement n respect of share-based charges 15 as follows Note there is no charge associated with the transaction where the employees
subscibe for the shares at full market value

2015 2074

Noie Type £'000 £'000

Awarded to non-executive directors a Shares - 14
Other share-based charges b Shares 2,693 572
2,693 586

a Non-exccutive directors
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan for its non-executive directors The entity receives services
from these directors as consideration for shares in the Group The fair value of the services received tn exchange for the grant of the
awards 1s recognised as an expense The total amount to be expensed 1s determined by reference to the fair value of the awards granted

Non-market performance and service conditions are included 1n assumptions about the number of aptions that are expected to vest
The total expense 1s recognised over the vesting period, which 1s the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied At the end of each reporting penod, the Group rewises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest, based
on the non-market vesting conditions It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the profit and loss account,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity When the vesting conditions are met, the company issues new shares The proceeds received
net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital {norminal value) and share premium

b Other share-based charges
During 2015, £2,693,000 was the IFRS 2 share-based payment charge for share optionsissued to Circle employees and partners
This charge has been passed anto the subsidiary company in which the services are being provided, namely Circle Health Limited,
by way of capital contribution

Modified warrant 1ssue parameters (reflecting five-for-one share spht)

Stock price £152
_Exercise price o £152
Expected volatility 50%
Risk-free interest rate 5%
Warrant life’ 10 years
Fanr value of warrant £102

The Incremental increase in the fair value was assessed at £1,478,000 and was charged to the income statement over the remaining
vesting penod, atong with the residual charge relating to the fair value at the grant date of the initial warrants The warrants charge
recognised m Lthe iIncome statement for the year to 31 December 2015 15 £nil (2014 £nil} There were no new warrant 1ssues qualifying
as share-based charges during 2015 (2014 £nil), and none of the warrants were exercised in 2015 (2014 £nil)

+

The histonical volatility i assumed to be mdicatve of future trends which may not necessanly be the actual outcome
The ife of the warrant & based on the expected term and 1s no1 necessanily indicative of exercise patlerns that may occur

.
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13 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related parties

Following the group’s reorgamsation, transactions with sorme group companies which are now 100% owned by the Company
are eligible for exempuion from disclosure under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, and have accordingly been remaved from

the hist of related party transactions

2015 2014
Amounts Amounts Amounts Amgounts
owed by owed to ewed by owed to
related party related party related party related party
Nole £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Copta_ __ _ . a - - - -
a Capita
Dunng 2015, the Group was charged £85,000 {2014 £96,000) by Capita for fiduciary services provided to
companies within the Group during the year The amount outstanding at 31 December 2015 was £rul {2014 £rul)
The following are retated parties by virtue of therr significant shareholding The Group financial statements provide more details
Value of
Number of warrants held
shares held Shareholding £
Balderton Capital 16,756,534 7% 4,786
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685 4% 296
Invesco Perpetual 18,268,920 7% -
Lansdowne Partnels 54,167,008 22% 1,262
Toscafund 62,397,297 25% -
Circte Partnership Benefit Trust 61,949,297 25% -

Other than the above and Lhe equity transactions detailed in notes 11 and 12, there have been no transactions with these related parties

14 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET

There are no post-balance sheet date events to report

15 RECONCILIATION FROM EXISTING ACCOUNTING STANDARDS TO FRS 101

As noted In the accounting pebicies, the Company has adopted FRS 101 The Company'’s transition date for the adoption of FRS 101
151 January 2014 This transition date has been selected in accordance with FRS 100 Application of Financial Reporting Requirements,

and 1s the lirst day of the comparative period of account

The Company 15 required to establish its FRS 101 accounting policies for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015,
and apply these retrospectively to determine its opening FRS 101 balanice sheet at the transition date of 1 January 2014, unless transition

reliefs are avallable

There are no differences for the Company between reporting under FRS 107 as compared to reparting under UK GAAP as at 1 January

2014, or for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015
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<~ A wonderful experience;
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> % | cannot thank the staff

enough. Everyone was respectful,
helpful and informative. They
also looked after my wife
whenever she visited. Thanks
again to everyone involved

for making this very worrying
experience as easy as possible.
GENERAL SURGERY PATIENT CIRCLEREADING
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